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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

X] QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTNOL3 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED: JUNE 30, 2011
OR

[] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SE{ON 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

COMMISSION FILE NUMBER: 1-33796

CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its Gmart

MARYLAND 26-0630461

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation oganization) (IRS Employer Identification No

1211 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS, SUITE 2902
NEW YORK, NEW YORK
(Address of principal executive offices)

10036
(Zip Code)

(646) 454-3759
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area rode

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant ék)filed all documents and reports required talbd by Section 13 or 15(d) of t
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preagdid months (or for such shorter period that thgi®eant was required to file
such reports), and (2) has been subject to suiop fiequirements for the past 90 days:
Yedv] NoO

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant masnitted electronically and posted on its corpokélb site, if any, every
Interactive Data File required to be submitted posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T {8e&32.405 of this chapter)
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shqréeiod that the registrant was required to sulamit post such files).

YesMd NoO
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantl&sge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aocelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See definition of “acceleratiést f “large accelerated filer,” and “smaller ratiag company” in Rule 12b-2 of
the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filél ~ Accelerated filer0 Non-accelerated fileEl Smaller reporting compariy

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantdbedl company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxge Act).

YesO NoM

APPLICABLE ONLY TO CORPORATE ISSUERS:

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of e&tiedssuer’s classes of common stock, as ofdkegdracticable date:

Class Outstanding at August 4, 20.
Common Stock, $.01 par val 1,027,125,67¢






CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION
FORM 10-Q
TABLE OF CONTENTS
Partl. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements:

Consolidated Statements of Financial ConditioruaeJ30, 2011 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2010\@kr
from the audited consolidated financial statemah@ecember 31, 201

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compsalemcome (Loss) for the Quarters and Six Months
Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 (Unaudi

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhol&epsity for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 &bt
(Unaudited)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Sixtlls Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 (Unauc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unad}

Item 2. Manageme’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operatior

Iltem 3. Quantitative and QualitatiDisclosures about Market Ri:

Item 4. Controls and Procedul

Partll.  OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceeding
Item 1A. Risk Factor
Item 6. Exhibits
SIGNATURES

CERTIFICATIONS

28

48

53

54

54

55

56




CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
(dollars in thousands, except share and per slag

June 30, 2011

December 31,

(unaudited 2010 (1)

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 16,08( $ 7,17
Non-Agency RMBS, at fair valu

Senior ($147.5 million and $484.1 million resultiftgm consolidation of VIEs 347,90( 987,68!

Subordinated ($1.5 billion and $1.5 billion resudtifrom consolidation of VIEs 2,173,00! 2,210,85!

Senior, no-retained (held in consolidated VIE 2,176,69: 2,330,56!
Agency RMBS, at fair valu 5,013,76! 2,133,58
Securitized loans held for investment (held in adidsted VIES), net of allowance for loan losses «
$7.5 million and $6.6 million, respective 302,87¢ 353,53:
Accrued interest receivab 57,94¢ 49,08¢
Other asset 847 1,212
Total asset $ 10,089,100 $ 8,073,70!
Liabilities:
Repurchase agreements, Agency RMBS ($4.5 billieh$4.7 billion of RMBS pledged as collater:
respectively’ $ 4,320,48 $ 1,600,07:
Repurchase agreements, non-Agency RMBS ($0.0 24@.4 million of RMBS pledged as collater
respectively’ - 208,71¢
Securitized debt, loans held for investment, issuedonsolidated VIEs ($302.9 million and $353.¢
million of securitized loans pledged as collateraespectively’ 245,98 289,23
Securitized debt, non-Agency RMBS, issued by cadat#d VIEs, norretained ($3.8 billion and $4
billion of nor-retained RMBS pledged as collateral, respectiv 1,904,93 1,956,07!
Payable for investments purchas - 127,69:
Accrued interest payab 11,52¢ 11,64:
Dividends payabli 133,42! 174,44!
Accounts payable and other liabiliti 1,35¢ 392
Investment management fees payable to affi 13,19¢ 12,42;
Interest rate swaps, at fair value ($23.3 milliod $12.8 million of RMBS pledged as collateral,
respectively’ 19,65¢ 9,98¢
Total liabilities $ 6,650,571 $ 4,390,69
Commitments and Contingencies (Note - -
Stockholders' Equity:
Common stock: par value $0.01 per share; 1,50000006hares authorized, 1,027,167,395 and
1,027,034,357 shares issued and outstanding, tesge $ 10,26 % 10,26
Additional paic-in-capital 3,602,67. 3,601,891
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li 25,29 274,65:
Retained earnings (accumulated defi (199,697 (203,796
Total stockholders' equit $ 3,438,563! $ 3,683,001
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 10,089,10 $ 8,073,70!

(1) Derived from the audited consolidated finanstatements at December 31, 2C
See notes to consolidated financial statem




CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(dollars in thousands, except share and per slag

(unaudited

For the Quarter Ende

For the Six Months Ende

June 30, 201 June 30, 201 June 30, 201 June 30, 201

Net Interest Income:
Interest incom: $ 194,23 $ 133,52 $ 400,80¢ $ 262,50t
Interest expens 7,481 6,49¢ 15,48:¢ 13,87:
Interest income, ne¢-retainec 28,42¢ 49,82¢ 49,58 100,69(
Interest expense, n-retainec 28,31: 21,42: 55,88 55,25
Net interest income (expens 186,87( 155,43: 379,02¢ 294,07
Other-than-temporary impairments:
Total othe-thar-temporary impairment loss (1,926 (24,746 (6,137 (47,437
Non-credit portion of loss recognized in other comemetive
income (loss 882 17,85 2,462 37,99¢
Net othe-thar-temporary credit impairment loss (1,049 (6,899 (3,669 (9,439
Other gains (losses):
Unrealized gains (losses) on interest rate s\ (19,500 (11,237 (9,669 (11,237
Realized gains (losses) on interest rate s\ (4,299 (699 (7,149 (699

Gains (losses) on interest rate swaj (23,7979 (11,936 (16,817 (11,936
Net gains (losses) on inter-only RMBS (4,442 - (4,442 -
Net gains (losses) on embedded derivatives inga-only
RMBS (2,239 - (2,239 -
Realized gains (losses) on sales of investment: (380) - 2,36¢ 342
Realized losses on principal write-downs of non-#ge
RMBS (22,040 (326 (41,560 (1,27%)
Total other gains (losse (52,897 (12,267) (62,685) (12,869
Net investment income (los 132,93: 136,27t 312,67 271,76¢
Other expenses:
Management fe 13,152 9,261 25,90: 17,37%
Provision for loan losse - 1,024 1,44% 1,63(
General and administrative expen 1,82( 1,40¢ 3,307 2,56¢
Total other expense 14,97 11,69¢ 30,65! 21,57¢
Income (loss) before income taxe 117,96: 124,58( 282,02: 250,19(
Income taxe: 11€ 1 81€ 1
Net income (loss $ 117,84. $ 12457¢ $ 281,20 $ 250,18
Net income (loss) per shi-basic and dilute $ 0.11 $ 0.1€ $ 027 $ 0.3t
Weighted average number of shares outstanding-baslic
diluted 1,027,130,49 765,475,34 1,027,096,96 718,185,90
Comprehensive income (loss
Net income (loss $ 117,84: $ 12457¢ $ 281,20 $ 250,18
Other comprehensive income (los
Unrealized gains (losses) on avail-for-sale securities, n (112,06 (151,52 (292,219 90,057
Reclassification adjustment for net losses includeaukt
income (loss) for other-than-temporary credit innpent
losses 1,04¢ 6,89: 3,66¢ 9,431
Reclassification adjustment for net realized loggems)
included in net income (los 22,42( 32¢ 39,19¢ 93¢
Other comprehensive income (lo (88,607) (144,309 (249,359 100,42
Comprehensive income (los $ 29.24( $ (19,726 $ 31,85. $ 350,61¢

See notes to consolidated financial statem




CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(dollars in thousands, except per share ¢

(unaudited’
Accumulated Retained
Common Additional Other Earnings
Stock Paid-in Comprehensiv  (Accumulate:
Par Value Capital Income (Loss Deficit) Total
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 6,69: $ 2,290,61- $ (99,759 $ (70,99) $ 2,126,56:
Net income (loss - - - 250,18¢ 250,18¢
Cumulative effect of change in accounting princi - - - (88,187) (88,187
Other comprehensive income (lo - - 100,42 - 100,42
Proceeds from direct purchase and dividend reinvers - 122 - - 122
Proceeds from common stock offerir 2,12¢ 765,58¢ - - 767,71.
Restricted stock gran 1 245 - - 24¢€
Common dividends declared, $0.34 per sl - - - (244,21) (244,21)
Balance, June 30, 20: $ 8,822 $ 3,056,561 $ 675 $ (153,20) $ 2,912,85
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 10,26 $ 3,601,89 $ 274,65 $ (203,799 $ 3,683,00!
Net income (loss - - - 281,20! 281,20"
Other comprehensive income (lo - - (249,35 - (249,35
Proceeds from direct purchase and dividend reinves 2 54C - - 542
Proceeds from common stock offerir - (8) - - (8)
Restricted stock gran - 24¢ - - 24¢
Common dividends declared, $0.27 per sl - - - (277,10 (277,10)
Balance, June 30, 20: $ 10,26 $ 3,602,67. $ 25,297 $ (199,69) $ 3,438,53

See notes to consolidated financial statem




CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in thousand:

(unaudited
For the Six For the Six
Months Ended  Months Ended
June 30, 201 June 30, 201

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income (loss $ 281,20F $ 250,18¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by (used in) operating activitie
(Accretion) amortization of investment discountsfpiums (118,639 (118,81
Unrealized losses (gains) on interest rate s\ 9,66¢ 11,231
Net losses (gains) on inter-only RMBS 4,44: -
Unrealized losses (gains) on embedded derivativegéres-only RMBS 2,23¢
Realized losses (gains) on sales of investn (2,369 (342
Realized losses on principal w-downs of no-Agency RMBS 41,56( 1,27t
Net othe-thar-temporary credit impairment loss 3,66¢ 9,437
Provision for loan losse 1,44z 1,63(C
Restricted stock gran 24¢ 24¢€
Changes in operating asse

Decrease (increase) in accrued interest reder (8,999 (12,559

Decrease (increase) in other as 36E 571
Changes in operating liabilitie

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable andl@thdities 962 207

Increase (decrease) in investment managemenpéamble to affiliat 774 83¢

Increase (decrease) in accrued interest pa (112) 8,91(
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 216,46: $ 152,83:
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Mortgage-Backed Securities portfolic

Purchase $ (3,653,58) $ (1,502,61)

Sales 668,52 89,871

Principal payment 262,63: 377,10¢
MortgageBacked Securities portfolio, n-retained:

Principal payment 366,75 289,73:
Securitized loans

Principal payment 48,40: 52,24¢
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi $ (2,307,26) $ (693,649
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

Proceeds from repurchase agreem $ 9,335,700 $  10,564,04

Payments on repurchase agreem (6,824,01) (11,201,64)

Net proceeds from common stock offeril (8) 767,71:

Payments on securitized debt borrowings, loahs tor investmen (43,257 (48,417

Proceeds from securitized debt borrowings.-retained 311,01 1,127,87.

Payments on securitized debt borrowings-retainec (362,155 (229,367

Net proceeds from direct purchase and divideimd/estmen 542 12z

Common dividends pa (318,12) (227,58
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi $ 2,099,70¢ $ 752,75(
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 8,907 $ 211,93!
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 7,17: 24,27¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 16,08( $ 236,21

See notes to consolidated financial statem




CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in thousand:

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

(unaudited

Interest pait $ 64,97¢ $ 60,91!

Taxes pait $ 8l $ 1
Non-cash investing activities:

Net change in unrealized gain on avail-for sale securitie $ (249,359 $ 100,42°
Non-cash financing activities:

Common dividends declared, not yet ¢ $ 133,42! $ 130,42(

See notes to consolidated financial statem




CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE QUARTER ENDED JUNE 30, 2011
(unaudited)

1. Organization

Chimera Investment Corporation (“Companwas organized in Maryland on June 1, 2007. The fgizoyyp commenced operations
November 21, 2007 when it completed its initial jpubffering. The Company has elected to be taa®d real estate investment tt
(“REIT"), under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 amended. In July 2008, the Company formed GhilBecurities Holdings, LLC, a
wholly-owned subsidiary. In June 2009, the Complanmed Chimera Asset Holding LLC and Chimera HotdLLC, both wholly-owned
subsidiaries. In January 2010, the Company for@leichera Special Holding LLC, which is a wholly-owhsubsidiary of Chimera Asset
Holding LLC. In July 2010, the Company formed Clvading Company LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary. irf@éra Securities Holdings,
LLC, Chimera Asset Holding LLC, Chimera Holding LL.&d Chimera Special Holding LLC are qualified REUbsidiaries. CIM Trading
Company LLC is a taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS"nhrfaly Capital Management, Inc. (“Annaly”) owns amyimately 4.38% of the
Company’s common shares. The Company is manag€&tkbg Income Discount Advisory Company (“FIDAC8n investment advisor
registered with the Securities and Exchange ComomgsSEC”). FIDAC is a wholly-owned subsidiary ahnaly.

2. Summary of the Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of the Company and its direct and indivgablly-owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany balances and transactions have bearimaied.

Beginning with the financial statements for the si@nth period ending June 30, 2011, the Companyedglassify previously
presented financial information so that amountsiptesly presented in the Consolidated Statemefperations and Comprehensive Income
(Loss) as interest expense on swaps will be predentOther gains (losses) as Realized gains @psseinterest rate swaps. Financial
statements for periods prior to June 30, 2011kwltonformed to the restated presentation. Irtesgeense for the quarter and six months
ended June 30, 2010 will be decreased by $699 @ndusnd $699 thousand, and Other gains (lossdd)evlecreased by the same amounts,
respectively.

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on handasiddeposited overnight in money market funds.

(c) Non-Agency and Agency Residential Mortgage-Baekl Securities

The Company invests in residential mortgage-baskedrities (‘RMBS”) representing interests in ohtigns backed by pools of
mortgage loans. The Company delineates betweehgdncy RMBS, (2) non-Agency RMBS, and (3) non-AgeRMBS, non-retained as
follows: The Agency RMBS are mortgage pass-throcgtificates, collateralized mortgage obligati¢f@MOs”), and other RMBS
representing interests in or obligations backegdyls of mortgage loans issued or guaranteed psrtcipal and/or interest repayment by
agencies of the U.S. Government or federally chedteorporations such Ginnie Mae, Freddie Mac eni&aMae. The non-Agency RMBS
are not issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Frédiaie or Ginnie Mae and is therefore subject talitngsk. Non-Agency RMBS, non-
retained are detailed in Note 8 to these conse@dfihancial statements.

The Company holds its RMBS as available-for-saleords investments at estimated fair value as itbestin Note 5 of these
consolidated financial statements, and includesalized gains and losses in other comprehensiwgriadloss) in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Inchows). From time to time, as part of the overanagement of its portfolio, the
Company may sell any of its RMBS investments ardgaize a realized gain or loss as a componerdrofreggs in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Inchoss) utilizing the specific identification method.




Interest income on RMBS is computed on the remgipiincipal balance of the investment securityerfium or discount
amortization/accretion on Agency RMBS is recogniaedr the life of the investment using the effeetinterest method Premium or
discount amortization/accretion on non-Agency RM88&cognized in accordance with Accounting Staaisl&odification (“ASC”) 325-40,
Investment-Other: Beneficial Interestsin Securitized Financial Assets. For non-Agency RMBS, the Company estimateseatithe of
purchase expected future cash flows, prepaymeetsperedit losses, loss severity, and loss tirhaged on the Company’s observation of
available market data, its experience, and thectille judgment of its management team to deterthieeffective interest rate on the
RMBS. The Company periodically reevaluates, amkdessary, makes adjustments to its analysiginglinternal models and external
market research in conjunction with managemengsnon performance in the non-Agency RMBS sectdrar@es to the Company’s
assumptions subsequent to the purchase date mapgecor decrease the amortization/accretion ofipras or discounts which affects
interest income. Changes to assumptions that deemexpected future cash flows may result in attemn-temporary impairment (“OTTI").

The Company evaluates quarterly, or more ofteraifk@t conditions warrant, each investment in itsB8vportfolio for OTTI. The
amortized cost of each investment in an unrealiassl position is compared to the present valupéeted future cash flows of the position.
In estimating future cash flows, the Company euvaiddhe non-Agency RMBS for OTTI by consideringidglencies, credit losses, loss
severities, prepayment speeds, geographic datavier characteristics, loan to value ratios, seiagpand credit support in conjunction with
broader macroeconomic expectations such as homme giepreciation, expectations of future delinquesaind loss severities and the abilit
the borrower to refinance or modify their loan§.after determining the expected future cash flofvthe position, the amortized cost of the
security is more than the present value of its etqubfuture cash flows, an OTTI has occurredhdéf €ompany does not intend to sell and is
not more likely than not required to sell the dedturity prior to its anticipated recovery, thediréoss, if any, is recognized in earnings, w
the balance of impairment related to other fac®recognized in other comprehensive income (lodghe Company intends to sell the debt
security, or will be more likely than not requiredsell the security before its anticipated recgy#he full unrealized loss is recognized in
earnings. The determination cannot be overcommadiryagement judgment of the probability of collegtal cash flows previously projected.

(d) Interest-Only RMBS

The Company invests in interest-only Agency and-Agency RMBS. On April 1, 2011, the Company eledtssifair value option
for interest-only RMBS acquired on or after sucted@hese interest-only RMBS represent the Comzamnght to receive a specified
proportion of the contractual interest flows of cifie RMBS. Interest-only strips acquired on oteafApril 1, 2011 are measured at fair value
through earnings in the Company’s ConsolidatedeStants of Operations and Comprehensive Income YLdse interest-only strips are
included in RMBS, at fair value on the accompanyingsolidated statements of financial condition.

(e) Securitized Loans Held for Investment

The Company’s securitized residential mortgagedame comprised of fixed-rate and variable-ratasoaviortgage loans are
designated as held for investment, and are caati¢fikir principal balance outstanding, plus argnpums or discounts, less allowances for
loan losses. Interest income on loans held foestment is recognized over the life of the investiusing the effective interest
method. Income recognition is suspended for ledmsn, in the opinion of management, a full recowdrincome and principal becomes
doubtful. Income recognition is resumed when danlbecomes contractually current and performasdemonstrated to be resumed. The
Company estimates fair value of securitized loandescribed in Note 5 of these consolidated fir@rstatements.

(f) Allowance for Loan Losses

The Company has established an allowance for lossek on its securitized loans held for investmertfolio at a level that
management believes is adequate based on an éwalahknown and inherent risks related to the séized loans. The securitized loan
portfolio is comprised primarily of nooenforming, single family, owner occupied, jumbdnpe loans that are not guaranteed as to repay
of principal or interest. The allowance for Idasses is established to provision for the craslit associated with a borrower’s default on its
loan and the potential for recovery at the liquimabf the property in an amount less than the ithpancipal balance of the loan. The
estimate is based on the aggregation of factotsdirgy current economic conditions, industry lospexience, the loan originator’s loss
experience, credit quality trends, loan portfolmposition, delinquency trends, national and l@ecainomic trends, national unemployment
data, changes in housing appreciation or depreaiatid whether specific geographic areas wher€dimepany has significant loan
concentrations are experiencing adverse economitdittans and events such as natural disastersrthptaffect the local economy or prope
values. Upon purchase of a pool of loans, the Compatains written representations and warrant@s fthe sellers that the Company will
be reimbursed for the value of the loan if the I&ls to meet the agreed upon origination starslakfhile the Company has little history of
its own to establish loan trends, delinquency tsapfthe originators and the current market coadgiaid in determining the allowance for
loan losses. The Company has created an unaltbpateision for probable loan losses estimated pareentage of the remaining unpaid
principal balance on the loans. Management’s e$&ins based on historical experience of similafgerwritten pools in conjunction with
current and expected market trends.




When the Company determines it is probable thatiBpeontractually due amounts are uncollectilthes amount is considered
impaired. Where impairment is indicated, a vahmativrite-off is measured based upon the excedseofdcorded investment over the net fair
value of the collateral, reduced by selling cogtay deficiency between the carrying amount of agesand the net sales price of repossesset
collateral is charged to the allowance for loarséss

(9) Repurchase Agreements

The Company may finance the acquisition of its gtrreent securities through the use of repurchaseagnts. Repurchase
agreements are treated as collateralized finaricamgactions and are carried at their contractualats, including accrued interest, as
specified in the respective agreements.

(h) Securitized Debt, loans held for investment an@ecuritized Debt, Non-Retained

The Company has issued securitized debt to finascesidential mortgage loan portfolio and haseeuritized RMBS to finance a
portion of its RMBS portfolio. Certain transactoimvolving residential mortgage loans are accailifiie as financings, and are recorded as
an asset called “Securitized loans held for invesitthand the corresponding debt as “Securitized,des&ns held for investment” in the
consolidated statements of financial condition e§éhsecuritizations are collateralized by residéatijustable or fixed rate mortgage loans
that have been placed in a trust and pay interespencipal payments to the debt holders of tkatustization. Re-securitization transactions
classified as “Securitized debt, non-retained’aeffthe transfer to a trust of fixed or adjustable RMBS which are classified as “Non-
Agency RMBS Senior, non-retained (held in consaéda/IES)” that pay interest and principal paymentthe debt holders of that re-
securitization. Re-securitization transactions plated by the Company are accounted for as fingsqgiursuant to ASC 81CQonsolidation .
The holders of Securitized debt and Securitized, dein-retained have no recourse to the ComparytrenCompany does not receive any
interest or principal paid on such debt. The Camypestimates fair value of securitized debt andisézed debt, non-retained as described in
Note 5 to these consolidated financial statementse associated liabilities are carried at amodtizest.

(i) Fair Value Disclosure
A complete discussion of the methodology utilizgdte Company to fair value its financial instrurteeis included in Note 5 to
these consolidated financial statements.

(j) Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Adivity

The Company’s policies permit it to enter into gative contracts, including interest rate swapsiatetest rate caps, as a means of
mitigating its interest rate risk. The Company imig to use interest rate derivative instrumentsitmate interest rate risk rather than to
enhance returns. Interest rate swaps are recagleither assets or liabilities in the consolidatatement of financial condition, and
measured at fair value with realized and unrealgaids and losses recognized in earnings. Net gatgon interest rate swaps are included
in the consolidated statement of cash flows amgoment of net income (loss). Unrealized gainss@s) on interest rate swaps are removed
from net income (loss) as an adjustment to castsfioom operating activities. The Company estiméa@svalue of interest rate swaps as
described in Note 5 of these consolidated finarstatiements.

The Company elects to net by counterparty theviaine of interest rate swap contracts. These &otsticontain legally enforceable
provisions that allow for netting or setting offaif individual swap receivables and payables walbh counterparty and, therefore, the fair
value of those swap contracts are netted by couentigt. The credit support annex provisions of@oenpany’s interest rate swap contracts
allow the parties to mitigate their credit risk l®guiring the party which is out of the money tepoollateral. As the Company elects to ne
counterparty the fair value of interest rate swaptiacts, it also nets by counterparty any casittwer collateral exchanged as part of the
interest rate swap contracts.




(k) Sales, Securitizations, and Re-Securitizations

The Company periodically enters into transactiong/fich it sells financial assets, such as RMBSitgame loans and other
assets. Gains and losses on sales of assetsnapeteal on the specific identification method whegréte Company records a gain or loss on
the difference between the carrying value of treetaand the proceeds from the sale. In addittnCompany from time to time securitize:
re-securitizes assets and sells tranches in thiy seeuritized assets. These transactions magdmeded as either a sale and the assets
contributed to the securitization are removed ftbmconsolidated statements of financial conditind a gain or loss is recognized, or as a
financing whereby the assets contributed to thar#iéation are not derecognized but rather thkilitées issued by the securitization are
recorded to reflect the term financing of the assét these securitizations and re-securitizatittes Company may retain senior or
subordinated interests in the securitized and/seriritized assets.

() Income Taxes

The Company elected to be taxed as a REIT, andftirerit generally will not be subject to corpordezleral, or state income tax to
the extent that qualifying distributions are manlstbckholders and the REIT requirements, includiergain asset, income, distribution and
stock ownership tests are met. If the Compangdaib qualify as a REIT and did not qualify forteém statutory relief provisions, the
Company would be subject to federal, state and lncame taxes and may be precluded from qualifgiag REIT for the subsequent four
taxable years following the year in which the R|iTalification was lost. The Company and its suilbsydCIM Trading Company LLC made
a joint election to treat the subsidiary as a te&x&EIT subsidiary. As such, CIM Trading ComparnyCLis taxable as a domestic C
corporation and subject to federal, state, and locame taxes based upon its taxable income.

The provisions of FASB ASC 74Mcome Taxes, clarify the accounting for uncertainty in incotases recognized in financial
statements and prescribe a recognition threshadrezasurement attribute for tax positions takeexpected to be taken on a tax
return. FASB ASC 740 also requires that interest genalties related to unrecognized tax beneditsebognized in financial statements. The
Company does not have any unrecognized tax betleditsvould affect its financial position. Thug, accruals for penalties and interest w
necessary as of June 30, 2011.

(m) Net Income per Share

The Company calculates basic net income per shadé/iing net income for the period by the weightverage shares of its
common stock outstanding for that period. Dilutedincome per share takes into account the effeditutive instruments, such as stock
options, but uses the average share price forahedin determining the number of incremental ekdhat are to be added to the weighted
average number of shares outstanding. The Contpachyio potentially dilutive securities outstandihging the periods presented.

(n) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock based compensatiarda granted to the employees of FIDAC and ittia#s in accordance with
ASC 505-50Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees. Pursuant to ASC 505-50 the Company measurdgithealue of the equity
instrument using the stock prices and other measemeassumptions as of the earlier of either tlie @gawhich a performance commitmen
the counterparty is reached or the date at whielttlunterparty’s performance is complete. Comparsaxpense related to the grants of
stock and stock options is recognized over theinggteriod of such grants based on the fair vafub@stock on the vesting date.

(o) Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial steets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAP”) requires management akeestimates and assumptions that affect thetegbamounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabildiethe date of the financial statements and therted amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. The most significastiraates are related to the following: all investingecurities classified as available-for-sale
and interest rate swaps are reported at their atohfair value; all investment securities are dined/accreted based on yields that
incorporate management’s assumptions as to thetgperformance of the investment over time; &ieddan loss provision reflects
management estimates with regard to expected la$sks securitized loan portfolio. Actual resudtsuld differ from those estimates.




(p) Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Presentation

Comprehensive Income (ASC 220)

In June 2011, FASB released ASU 2011-05, whichrgite to improve the comparability, consistency, fladsparency of financial
reporting and increase the prominence of itemsrtegan other comprehensive income (OCI). The adment requires that all non-owner
changes in stockholders’ equity be presented eithaisingle continuous statement of net incomecamdprehensive income or two separate
consecutive statements. Either presentation resjtlire presentation on the face of the financééstents any reclassification adjustment:
items that are reclassified from OCI to net incomthe statements. There is no change in what beustported in OCI or when an item of
OCI must be reclassified to net income. This updaeffective for fiscal years, and interim pesgadthin those years, beginning after
December 15, 2011. This update will result in #ddal disclosure, but is expected to have no nateffect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Broad Transactions

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (ASC 820)

In January 2010, FASB issued ASU 20®which increases disclosures regarding the firevof assets. A majority of this upc
was effective for the Company on January 1, 2018owever, the guidance also required that thda@lisces on any Level 3 assets present
separately information about purchases, salesaime®is and settlements. In other words, Level @saisse presented on a gross basis rather
than as one net number. This portion of the guidas effective for the Company on January 1, 204doption of this portion of the
guidance results in increased footnote disclosuthé Company’s consolidated financial statementhé extent that Level 3 assets are held.

In May 2011, FASB release ASU 2011-04 further cogivey US GAAP and IFRS by providing common fairn@measurement and
disclosure requirements. The amendments in thdatepchange the wording used to describe the mmeints in US GAAP for measuring 1
value and for disclosing information about fairn@imeasurements. These include those that ctagfifASBS intent about the application
existing fair value measurement and disclosureirements and those that change a particular piemaoiprequirement for measuring fair
value or for disclosing information about fair valmeasurements. This guidance is effective ferimt and annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2011. This update rmesylt in additional disclosure, however has rfeatfon the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Transfers and Servicing (ASC 860)

In April 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011-03 regardinguehase agreements. In a typical repurchaseragradransaction, an entity
transfers financial assets to a counterparty ithaxge for cash with an agreement for the countgrpareturn the same or equivalent
financial assets for a fixed price in the futuRrior to this update one of the factors in detemgjrwhether sale treatment could be used was
whether the transferor maintained effective cormfdhe transferred assets and in order to dahsotransferor must have the ability to
repurchase such assets. Based on this update, E&\®Bided that the assessment of effective costralild focus on a transferor’s
contractual rights and obligations with respedramsferred financial assets, rather than on whetigetransferor has the practical ability to
perform in accordance with those rights or obligas. Therefore, this update removes the transéeability criterion from consideration of
effective control. This update is effective foetfirst interim or annual period beginning on deaDecember 15, 2011. As the Company
records repurchase agreements as secured borroavidgsot sales, this update will have no effecthenCompany’s consolidated financial
statements.

3. Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities

The following tables present the principal valueamnortized premium, unamortized discount, grossalired gain, gross unrealized
loss, and fair value of the Company’s availabledale RMBS portfolio as of June 30, 2011 and Deearhh, 2010, at fair value by asset
class. The RMBS portfolio is composed of Agencg anon-Agency RMBS collateralized by residential tgage loans. The Agency RMBS
are mortgage pass-through certificates, CMOs, #émef MBS representing interests in or obligatibasked by pools of mortgage loans
issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Magjrorie Mae. The non-Agency RMBS portfolio is imegued or guaranteed by Fannie
Mae, Freddie Mac, or Ginnie Mae and is therefolges to credit risk. The Company classifies is+Agency RMBS into senior,
subordinated, and senior, non-retained intereSémior interests in non-Agency RMBS are considéodik entitled to the first principal
repayments in their pro-rata ownership intereStscurities identified as senior, non-retained regméthe portion of the Company’s non-
Agency RMBS included on the Company’s balance stiettare economically owned by third parties. Tdtal fair value of the non-Agency
RMBS that are held by the re-securitization traistg are consolidated pursuant to ASC &ld@hsolidation , was $3.8 billion and $4.4 billion
at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 respecti@dg Note 8 of these consolidated financial states for further discussion on
consolidation.
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June 30, 201
(dollars in thousand:

Unamortized Unamortized Gross Gross
Principal Value Premium Discount Unrealized Gail  Unrealized Los Fair Value
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior $ 6,967 $ 405,64t $ (93) $ 27,67 $ (92,299 $ 347,90(
Subordinatet 4,938,49 57,94¢ (2,562,45) 151,46( (412,439 2,173,00!
Senior, no-retained 1,948,00: 40,46¢ (79,399 292,45¢ (24,849 2,176,69:
Agency RMBS 4,801,98. 135,33. (167 88,06¢ (11,459 5,013,76!
Total $ 11,695,44 $ 639,39: $ (2,642,10) $ 559,65! $ (541,039 $ 9,711,35
December 31, 201
(dollars in thousand:
Unamortized Unamortized Gross Gross
Principal Value Premium Discount Unrealized Gail  Unrealized Los Fair Value
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior $ 664,25. $ 420,65 $ (9,320 $ 21,75¢ $ (109,66) $ 987,68!
Subordinatet 4,962,82! 58,29¢ (2,789,90i) 206,18 (226,55) 2,210,85!
Senior, no-retainec 2,008,16 79,73( (109,619 428,21 (75,927 2,330,56!
Agency RMBS 2,035,82: 67,134 - 47,715 (17,090 2,133,58
Total $ 9,671,07t $ 625,81¢ $ (2,908,84) $ 703,87 $ (429,220 $ 7,662,69!

Interest-only RMBS included in the table aboverespnt the right to receive a specified portiothefcontractual interest cash flows
of the underlying unamortized principal balancepécific securities. As of June 30, 2011, inteogdy RMBS accounted for under the fair
value option had unrealized losses of $4.4 milhod an amortized cost of $21.0 million.

The following tables present the gross unrealinadds and estimated fair value of the Company’s RMBlength of time that such
securities have been in a continuous unrealizedgdosition at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 20h6.securities in an unrealized loss
position have been evaluated by the Company forl@$Tiscussed above. Three consolidated trustsieen in a continuous unrealized
loss position for greater than twelve months algiothe assets are performing in line with the Camgfsaexpectations.
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June 30, 201
(dollars in thousand:

Unrealized Loss Position Fc

Less than 12 Montt 12 Months or More Total
Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized
RMBS Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior $ 85,66( $ (12,08) $ 90,72( $ (80,217 $ 176,38( $ (92,29)
Subordinatec 502,02! (79,827 920,07¢ (332,61) 1,422,10. (412,439
Senior, no-retained - - 523,98t (24,849 523,98t (24,849
Agency 588,90! (11,459 - - 588,90! (11,459
Total $ 1,176,590 $ (103,36) $ 1,534,78 $ (437,67) $ 2,711,377 $ (541,039
December 31, 201
(dollars in thousand:
Unrealized Loss Position Fc
Less than 12 Montt 12 Months or More Total
Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized
RMBS Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior $ 54996f $ (109,669 $ - 3 - $ 54996¢ $ (109,66
Subordinatec 1,178,49: (217,224 12,82¢ (9,329 1,191,31 (226,55
Senior, no-retained 764,72¢ (75,927 - - 764,72¢ (75,927
Agency 600,46« (17,090 - - 600,46« (17,090
Total $ 3,09364' $ (419,899 $ 12,82¢ $ (9,32) $ 3,106,47! $ (429,22)

The Company recorded a $1.0 million OTTI during ¢huarter ended June 30, 2011 on investments wherexipected future cash
flows of certain non-Agency RMBS were less tharirthmortized cost basis. The impairment recordatihd the quarter ended June 30,

2011 was related to seven securities. The impainegstments were certain non-Agency RMBS. Asuniel30, 2011 the impaired securities

had cumulative losses ranging from 0% up to 15%&ethmonth prepayments speeds between 9 and 38abbRsepayment Rate (“CPR”),
60+ day delinquencies between 3% and 38% of thélgmdance, and weighted average FICO scores opdbls between 698 and 744.

A summary of the OTTI included in earnings for thearter and six months ended June 30, 2011 andi2@t8sented below.

For the Quarter Ende

June 30, 201 June 30, 201
Cumulative credit loss beginning balar $ 25,29¢ $ 12,54(
Additions:
Other-thar-temporary impairments not previously recogni 28€ 6,34(
Increases related to other-than-temporary impaitsnen securities with previously recognized
otherthar-temporary impairment 75€ 552
Cumulative credit loss ending balar $ 26,34: $ 19,43¢
For the Six Months Ende
June 30, 201 June 30, 201
Cumulative credit loss beginning balar $ 22,67 $ 9,99¢
Additions:
Othek-thar-temporary impairments not previously recogni 1,27¢ 8,80z
Increases related to other-than-temporary impaitsnen securities with previously recognized
other-thar-temporary impairment 2,39¢ 63E
Cumulative credit loss ending balar $ 26,341 $ 19,43t
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The following tables present details of each aslsests in the Company’s RMBS portfolio at June 3, R2and December 31,
2010. The weighted average coupon, yield, and &R¥eriod-end are weighted by each investnser@Spective principal/notional value in
asset class. The figure presenting the annuajitdl over the current quarter is the annualizédrast income earned on the asset class
during the quarter, divided by the average of thgitning and ending amortized cost of the assescla

June 30, 201
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Yield Annualized Average 3
Coupon at (Loss Adjusted Yield Over Month CPR at
Perioc-End at Perio-End Current Quarte Perioc-End
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior 1.91% 14.06% 4.08% 17%
Subordinater 3.9% 14.21% 18.5% 17%
Senior, no-retained 5.1%% 4.58% 5.7(% 16%
Agency RMBS 4.71% 4.34% 4.34% 7%

December 31, 201

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Yield Annualized Average 3
Coupon at (Loss Adjusted Yield Over Month CPR at
Perioc-End at Perio-End Current Quarte Perioc-End
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior 2.01% 13.7% 12.9%% 16%
Subordinate 4.04% 17.41% 25.16% 15%
Senior, no-retained 5.17% 4.36% 6.85% 15%
Agency RMBS 5.05% 4.51% 3.34% 24%

The Company’s investment guidelines place no @&giris on the credit rating of the assets the Camjmable to hold in its
portfolio. The portfolio is most heavily weightéal contain RMBS with credit risk. The Company cbes assets for the portfolio after
carefully evaluating each investment’s risk profile

June 30, 201 December 31, 20:
AAA 14.03% 14.67%
AA 0.67% 5.34%
A 0.48% 0.92%
BBB 0.53% 0.61%
BB 0.01% 0.01%
B 0.00% 0.00%
Below B or not rate! 84.28Y% 78.45Y
Total 100.00% 100.00%

The table above reflects the credit rating of tlen@any’s consolidated non-Agency RMBS portfoliot JAne 30, 2011
approximately 14% of the AAA, AA, and A securitiealance reflected in the table above include senimm-retained, non-Agency RMBS.

The AAA rated assets in the non-Agency RMBS poitfare predominantly senior non-retained non-AgeRMBS. As the
Company securitizes or re-securitizes assetspie@s the Below B or not rated percentages in t¢inéqbio to increase as the Company
typically retains the subordinated tranches ofdéhgpes of transactions.

Actual maturities of RMBS are generally shortemtistated contractual maturities. Actual maturitéthe Company’s RMBS are
affected by the contractual lives of the underlyingrtgages, periodic payments of principal and ayepents of principal. The following
tables summarize the Company’s RMBS at June 30, 20di December 31, 2010 according to their estinatighted-average life
classifications. The weighted-average lives ofRiMBS at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 itatlles below are based on consensus
constant prepayment speeds. The prepayment mongiders current yield, forward yield, steepnesthefinterest rate curve, current
mortgage rates, mortgage rates of the outstandang loan age, margin, and volatility.
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June 30, 201
(dollars in thousand:

Weighted Average Lifi
Greater than or
Less than one year and less  Greater than fiv

year than five year: years Total
Fair value
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior $ 8,80t $ 70,60¢ $ 268,48t $ 347,90(
Subordinatet 10,21: 246,75: 1,916,04; 2,173,00!
Senior, no-retained 285,13¢ 1,440,03! 451,51° 2,176,69;
Agency RMBS - 646,78 4,366,97 5,013,76!
Total fair value $ 304,15 $ 2,404,18. $ 7,003,02. $ 9,711,35
Amortized cos
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior $ 9,03t $ 77,99 % 32549 % 412,52:
Subordinatec 10,45¢ 278,18¢ 2,145,33! 2,433,98.
Senior, no-retained 182,44( 1,289,27! 437,35’ 1,909,071
Agency RMBS - 617,30¢ 4,319,84 4,937,15.
Total amortized cos $ 201,93: $ 2,262,76' $ 7,228,03 $ 9,692,73!
December 31, 201
(dollars in thousand:
Weighted Average Lifi
Greater than or
Less than one year and less  Greater than fiv
year than five year: years Total
Fair value
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior $ 26,96: $ 587,07 $ 373,64¢ $ 987,68!
Subordinatet 7,941 218,98t 1,983,93. 2,210,85i
Senior, no-retained 200,46¢ 1,889,73. 240,36¢ 2,330,56!
Agency RMBS - 1,560,85! 572,72" 2,133,58:
Total fair value $ 235,37 $ 4,256,65. $ 3,170,67. $ 7,662,69'
Amortized cos
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior $ 26,92( % 584,85¢ $ 463,81( $ 1,075,58!
Subordinatec 11,07¢ 253,55¢ 1,966,58 2,231,222
Senior, no-retained 251,57¢ 1,500,95! 225,74 1,978,27:
Agency RMBS - 1,513,64- 589,31 2,102,95
Total amortized cos $ 289,57" $ 3,853,011 $ 3,245,45. $ 7,388,04!

The non-Agency RMBS portfolio is subject to cratik. The Company seeks to mitigate credit rightigh its asset selection
process. The non-Agency RMBS portfolio is primadbllateralized by what the Company classifiea\isA first lien mortgages. The
Company categorizes collateral as Alt-A regardtdsshether the loans were originally described @#ie” if the behavior of the collateral
when the Company purchased the security more tjpiasembles Alt-A. The Company defines Alt-A lkedéral characteristics to be when
the 60+ day delinquency bucket of the pool is gnetitan 5% and weighted average FICO scores aategithan 650 at origination. At June
30, 2011, 99% of the non-Agency RMBS were Alt-Alatdral. At December 31, 2010, 99% of the non-AgyeRMBS were Alt-A
collateral. The non-Agency securities containethia portion of the portfolio have the followingltateral characteristics at June 30, 2011

and December 31, 2010.
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June 30, 201 December 31, 201

Number of securities in portfoli 523 581
Weighted average maturity (yea 27.C 27.4
Weighted average amortized loan to ve 72.3% 72.5%
Weighted average FIC 717.2 717.c
Weighted average loan balance (in thousa $ 470.1 $ 447.¢
Weighted average percentage owner occu 84.2% 83.2%
Weighted average percentage single family resid 64.1% 63.1%
Weighted average current credit enhancer 12.7% 16.(%
Weighted average geographic concentra CA 38.1% CA 57.&%
FL 8.7% FL 13.2%
NY 5.5% NY 7.3%
NJ 2.4% VA 3.9%
VA 2.3% NJ 3.3%

The information presented in the table above inesugkenior, non-retained, non-Agency RMBS consdidiaursuant to the adoption
of ASC 810 on January 1, 2010 by the Company.

The table below presents origination year for toen@any’s portfolio of non-Agency RMBS at June 3012 and December 31,

2010.

Origination Yeal June 30, 201 December 31, 20:

2004 0.0% 0.1%

2005 13.2% 13.4%

2006 40.1% 27.0%

2007 40.8% 56.1%

2008 5.9% 3.3%

2009 0.0% 0.1%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

During the quarter ended June 30, 2011, the ComgaldyRMBS with a carrying value of $16.4 millicor frealized losses of $380
thousand. During the quarter ended June 30, 28&@Company had no sales of RMBS.

The Company sold all of the AAA-rated bonds createits re-securitizations prior to the quarter eddune 30, 2011, and therefore
did not record non-recourse financing with thirdtpanvestors related to re-securitizations exegiumeprior periods. During the six months
ended June 30, 2011, the Company financed thrdwegettransactions $306.6 million of AAA-rated fixadie bonds by selling the bonds to
third party investors for net proceeds of $311.0iomi.

On April 30, 2010, the Company transferred $566ilian in principal value of its RMBS to the CSM®20-11R Trust in a re-
securitization transaction. This transaction wea®rded as a “secured borrowing” pursuant to ASIcEo860 and 810. In this transaction,
the Company financed $138.8 million of AAA-rategdd rate bonds by selling the bonds to third pemrgstors for net proceeds of $137.4
million. The Company has retained $427.7 milliarsubordinated bonds and the owner trust certdicathe subordinated bonds and the
owner trust certificate provide credit supporthie AAA-rated bonds. The bonds issued by the aitestollateralized by RMBS that were
transferred to the CSMC 2010-11R Trust.

On May 27, 2010, the Company transferred $1.2dgilln principal value of its RMBS to the CSMC 201PR Trust in a re-
securitization transaction. This transaction wea®rded as a “secured borrowing” pursuant to ASIcEo860 and 810. In this transaction,
the Company financed $294.0 million of AAA-rategdd rate bonds by selling the bonds to third pemrgstors for net proceeds of $294.3
million. The Company has retained $136.3 millidgriAdA-rated bonds, $788.2 million in subordinateohiols and the owner trust
certificate. The subordinated bonds and the owmst certificate provide credit support to the A4#ted bonds. The bonds issued by the
trust are collateralized by RMBS that were transféito the CSMC 2010-12R Trust.
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In addition, during the quarter ended June 30, 28 Company financed through these transacti®#@5.® million of AAA-rated
fixed rate bonds with third party investors for pedtceeds of $197.4 million. In total, the Compéingnced through these transactions,
including the newly re-securitized assets, $627lBam of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds for net proatseof $629.2 million during the quarter

ended June 30, 2010.

4. Securitized Loans Held for Investment

The following table represents the Compansécuritized residential mortgage loans classdieteld for investment at June 30, 2
and December 31, 2010. At June 30, 2011 approrign&6% of the Company’s securitized loans arestdple rate mortgage loans and 45%
are fixed rate mortgage loans. All of the adjulgabte loans held for investment are hybrid adjoist rate mortgages (“ARMs”). Hybrid
ARMs are mortgages that have interest rates tledfixad for an initial period (typically three, By seven or ten years) and thereafter reset at
regular intervals subject to interest rate capise periodic cap on all hybrid ARMs in the secuetidoan portfolio range from 0.00% to 3.0
as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010. Theiseed loans held for investment are carriechafrtprincipal balance outstanding, plus

premiums or discounts, less an allowance for loards.

December 3:

June 30, 201 201(

Securitized loans, at amortized c $ 310,36: $ 360,11¢
Less: allowance for loan loss 7,48¢ 6,58¢
Securitized loans held for investme $ 302,87¢ $ 353,53:

The securitized loan portfolio is collateralizeddoyme, jumbo, first lien residential mortgagesadfich 55% were originated during
2008 and 43% were originated during 2007 and thmaineing 2% of the loans were originated prior t®20 A summary of key characterist

of these loans follows.

June 30, 201 December 31, 201
Number of loan: 44¢ 512
Weighted average maturity (yea 26.2 26.€
Weighted average amortized loan to ve 75.1% 74.5%
Weighted average FIC 754 75&
Weighted average loan balance (in
thousands $ 688.< $ 694.:
Weighted average percentage owner
occupiec 91.1% 90.5%
Weighted average percentage single fami
residence 58.4% 58.2%
Weighted average geographic concentra CA 34.2% CA 33.2%
FL 6.8% FL 6.7%
AZ 5. 7% NJ 5.3%
NJ 5.2% IL 5.3%
IL 5.1% AZ 5.2%

The following table summarizes the changes in tlssvance for loan losses for the securitized magigan portfolio during the

quarters ended June 30, 2011 and 2010.

June 30, 201 June 30, 201
Balance, beginning of peric $ 8,01¢ $ 4,55¢
Provision for loan losse 1,44 1,024
Charge-offs (1,97¢€) (9)
Balance, end of peric $ 7,48¢ $ 5,56¢
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On a quarterly basis, the Company evaluates thguadg of its allowance for loan losses which icgkted to reflect management’
estimate of possible losses in the securitized pmatfolio at the reporting date. The Compangtovision for loan losses considers the qu
of the collateral, performance of like collatei@hd expectations of future market conditions asrilesd more fully in Note 2(e). The
Companys provision for loan losses is calculated on thistamding principal balance of the portfolio, 6Caydielinquencies for like collate
and current and expected severities for similangarwritten loans. The Company’s allowance fonl@sses at June 30, 2011 was $7.5
million, representing 244 basis points of the gpatbalance of the Company’s securitized mortdaga portfolio. The Company’s
allowance for loan losses at December 31, 201086 million, representing 185 basis points ofgihiacipal balance of the Company’s
securitized mortgage loan portfolio. The followitadple summarizes the status of loans greater3fatays delinquent.

30 Days 60 Days 90+ Days

Delinquent  Delinquent  Delinquent  Bankruptcy Foreclosure REO Total
(dollars in thousand:
June 30, 201 $ 2,86¢ $ 0 % 3,74 % 0 % 10,21¢ $ 1,11 $ 17,94:
December 31, 20: $ 1,66¢ $ 155 % 9,64¢ $ 937 $ 1,298 % 1,12C % 16,21¢

In addition, the following table presents the lottret were modified during the period. Loans amalified by the servicer as a
method of loss mitigation.

Post
Number of PreModification Modification
Loans Modified Recorded Recorded
During Perioc Investmen: Invesmen
(dollars in thousand:
June 30, 201 5 % 3,08¢ $ 3,19¢
December 31, 20: 14 11,38t 11,97¢

5. Fair Value Measurements

GAAP defines fair value, establishes a frameworknfieasuring fair value, establishes a three-leaklation hierarchy for disclosure
of fair value measurement and enhances disclosgrérements for fair value measurements. The tialuaierarchy is based upon the
transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asséability as of the measurement date. ThedHlewels are defined as follows:

Level 1 — inputs to the valuation methodology awetgd prices (unadjusted) for identical assetsliabdities in active markets.

Level 2 — inputs to the valuation methodology imiglquoted prices for similar assets and liabilitieactive markets, and inputs that
are observable for the asset or liability, eitheeatly or indirectly, for substantially the fukttm of the financial instrument.

Level 3 — inputs to the valuation methodology amehservable and significant to fair value.

The following discussion describes the methodokgidized by the Company to fair value its finaalénstruments by instrument
class.

Short-term I nstruments
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalentsuad interest receivable, dividends payable, attsopayable, and accrued inte
payable generally approximates estimated fair vdlieto the short term nature of these financstriiments.

Non-Agency and Agency RMBS

Generally, the Company determines the fair valuiésdhvestment securities utilizing a pricing mbtheat incorporates such factors
as coupon, prepayment speeds, weighted averagedlfateral composition, borrower characteristegyected interest rates, life caps,
periodic caps, reset dates, collateral seasonkpgeoted losses, expected default severity, cratihecement, and other pertinent
factors. Certain very liquid asset classes, sschgency fixed-rate pass-throughs may be pricedigusidependent sources such as quoted
prices for “To-Be-Announced” securities. Managetreviews the fair values generated by the mamldetermine whether prices are
reflective of the current market. Management penfa validation of the fair value calculated bg pgricing model by comparing its result:
independent prices provided by dealers in the #&siand/or third party pricing services. The Qamy believes the observable inputs used
in its model in conjunction with dealer and/or thparty pricing services meets the criteria fossification as Level 2.
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Non-Agency, Non-Retained RMBS

The non-Agency, non-retained securities reflecteithé consolidated financial statements are séesigbnsolidated pursuant to the
Company’s adoption of ASC 810 on January 1, 20llfese assets have been financed with third pavttbsut recourse to the Company in
the normal course of the Company’s portfolio optiation strategy. The Company fair values thesetass described aboveNon-Agency
and Agency RMBS.  See Note 8 to these consolidated financial seésfor a detailed discussion of these securities.

Interest Rate Swaps

The Company utilizes third party quotes to deteenihre fair values of its interest rate swaps. CThepany compares the third party
guotations received to its own estimate of faiuealo evaluate for reasonableness. The dealeegjuatorporate common market pricing
methods, including a spread measurement to thesiinggield curve or interest rate swap curve as aelinderlying characteristics of the
particular contract. Interest rate swaps are madeyethe Company by incorporating such factordagérm to maturity, Treasury curve,
LIBOR rates, and the payment rates on the fixetiguoof the interest rate swaps.

Any changes to the valuation methodology are regtbisy management to ensure the changes are aeopts markets and
products develop and the pricing for certain praslbecomes more transparent, the Company will coatio refine its valuation
methodologies. The methodology utilized by the Camypfor the periods presented is materially unckdngrhe methods used to produce a
fair value calculation may not be indicative of nedlizable value or reflective of future fair vatu Furthermore, while the Company believes
its valuation methods are appropriate and congigtgh other market participants, the use of défgrmethodologies, or assumptions, to
determine the fair value of certain financial instients could result in a different estimate of f@ilue at the reporting date. The Company
uses inputs that are current as of the measuretaéstwhich may include periods of market dislaratduring which price transparency may
be reduced.

During times of market dislocation, as has beereggpced for some time and continues to existptiservability of prices and
inputs can be reduced for certain instrumentsleéflers or independent pricing services are urtalpjeovide a price for an asset, or if the
price provided by them is deemed unreliable byGbepany, then the asset will be valued at itsvaliue as determined in good faith by the
Company. In addition, validating third party prigifor the Company’s investments may be more stitsgeas fewer participants may be
willing to provide this service to the Companyliqiiid investments typically experience greatecewolatility as a ready market does not
exist. As fair value is not an entity-specific rmege and is a market-based approach which condiuersalue of an asset or liability from the
perspective of a market participant, observabditprices and inputs can vary significantly fronripd to period. A condition such as this
cause instruments to be reclassified from Level llevel 2 or Level 2 to Level 3 when the Companynable to obtain third party pricing
verification.

At June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Comglangified its assets and liabilities as Levellhe Companys financial asse
and liabilities carried at fair value on a recugrimasis are valued at June 30, 2011 and Decemb203Q as presented below.
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June 30, 201

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(dollars in thousand:
Assets:
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior $ - $ 347,90 $ =
Subordinater - 2,173,00! -
Senior, no-retained - 2,176,69: -
Agency mortgag-backed securitie - 5,013,76! -
Liabilities:
Interest rate sway - 19,65¢ -
December 31, 201
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(dollars in thousand:
Assets:
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior $ - $ 987,68! $ -
Subordinatec - 2,210,85! -
Senior, no-retained - 2,330,56! -
Agency mortgag-backed securitie - 2,133,58: -
Liabilities:
Interest rate sway - 9,98¢ -

In the aggregate, the Company'’s fair valuationRMEIBS investments were 0.40% higher than the ag¢edgiealer marks for the
quarter ended June 30, 2011 and 0.53% higher lieaaggregated dealer marks for the quarter ended 3y 2010.

Securitized Loans Held for Investment

The Company records securitized loans held forstnaent when it securitizes loans and records #reséction as a “financing.The
Company carries securitized loans held for inveatrag principal value, plus premiums or discourgtglpless an allowance for loan
losses. The Company estimates the fair valuesafaturitized loans held for investment at the &mfjgsted expected future cash flows of the
collateral. The Company models each underlyingtdsg considering, among other items, the natutbefinderlying collateral, coupon,
servicer, actual and expected defaults, actuakapdcted default severities, reset indices, anplgyraent speeds in conjunction with market
research for similar collateral performance and agament’s expectations of general economic comditilo the sector and greater economy.

Repurchase Agreements

The Company records repurchase agreements attirgmactual amounts including accrued interest bl@yaRepurchase agreeme
are collateralized financing transactions utilibycthe Company to acquire investment securitiege f@ the short term nature of these
financial instruments, the Company estimated tivevidue of these repurchase agreements to beottiteactual obligation plus accrued
interest payable at maturity.

Securitized Debt, loans held for investment and Securitized Debt, Non-Retained

The Company records securitized debt for certifisatr notes financed without recourse to the Compagecuritization or re-
securitization transactions treated as “financirga’suant to ASC 860. The Company carries sezeadtdebt at the principal balance
outstanding on noretained notes associated with its securitizedddeatd for investment plus premiums or discountsmeed with the sale
the notes to third parties. The premiums or dist®associated with the sale of the notes or w=téds are amortized over the life of the
instrument. The Company estimates the fair vafiseouritized debt by estimating the future casw§ associated with underlying assets
collateralizing the secured debt outstanding. Chmpany models each underlying asset by consideaingng other items, the structure of
the underlying security, coupon, servicer, actual expected defaults, actual and expected defewdtrsies, reset indices, and prepayment
speeds in conjunction with market research forlaingiollateral performance and management’s exfientaof general economic conditions
in the sector and greater economy.
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The following table presents the carrying value astimated fair value, as described above, of tmagany’s financial instruments
at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010.

June 30, 201 December 31, 201
Estimated Fair Estimated Fair
Carrying Amoun Value Carrying Amoun Value
(dollars in thousand:
Non-Agency RMBS $ 4,697,59 $ 4,697,59 $ 5,529,11. $ 5,529,11.
Agency RMBS 5,013,761 5,013,76! 2,133,58 2,133,58.
Securitized loans held for investm:e 302,87 297,05° 353,53: 345,41(
Repurchase agreeme (4,320,48) (4,324,51) (1,808,79) (1,811,57)
Securitized dek (245,98 (257,94)) (289,23 (303,107
Securitized debt, ne-retained (1,904,93)) (1,858,32) (1,956,079 (1,887,12)
Interest rate sway (19,659 (19,65¢) (9,98¢) (9,98¢)

6. Repurchase Agreements

The Company had outstanding $4.3 billion and $ill®b of repurchase agreements with weighted ayefaorrowing rates of 0.2€
and 0.45% and weighted average remaining matudfi&® and 49 days as of June 30, 2011 and DeceBih@010, respectively. At June
30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, RMBS pledged #stea@l under these repurchase agreements hadiruates! fair value of $4.5 billion
and $2.0 billion, respectively. The average dadjances of the Company’s repurchase agreementsefguarters ended June 30, 2011 and
December 31, 2010 were $4.3 billion and $1.6 hilliespectively. The interest rates of these rémage agreements are generally indexed to
the one-month or the three-month LIBOR rate angriee accordingly.

At June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the repsechgreements collateralized by RMBS had theviolip remaining maturities

December 3:
June 30, 201 201(C
(dollars in thousand:

Overnight $ 338,100 $ -
1-30 days 1,752,94 232,26!
30 to 59 day: 1,541,04 970,39:
60 to 89 day: 73,41 545,44
90 to 119 day - 60,69¢
Greater than or equal to 120 d: 614,98 -
Total $ 4,320,48 $ 1,808,79

At June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Comghiginyot have an amount at risk greater than 10%s @fquity with any
counterparty.

7. Securitized Debt

All of the Company’s securitized debt is collateratl by residential mortgage loans or RMBS. Foafficial reporting purposes, the
Company’s securitized debt is accounted for apanfiing transaction. Thus, the residential moedagns or RMBS held as collateral are
recorded in the assets of the Company as secdritzas held for investment or RMBS and the seizedtdebt is recorded as a liability in
consolidated statements of financial condition.

At June 30, 2011 the Company'’s securitized debatohlized by residential mortgage loans had ecgpal balance of $257.9
million. The debt matures between the years 20@232838. At June 30, 2011 the debt carried a viethhverage cost of financing equal to
5.49%. At December 31, 2010, the Company’s sezeadtdebt collateralized by residential mortgagmbohad a principal balance of $303.1
million. The debt matures between the years 20232838. At December 31, 2010, the debt carriagighted average cost of financing
equal to 5.52%.

At June 30, 2011 the Company’s securitized debt;netained, collateralized by RMBS had a principalnce of $1.9 billion. The
debt matures between the years 2035 and 2047ung&t30, 2011 the debt carried a weighted averagfeofdinancing equal to 5.18%. At
December 31, 2010, the Company’s securitized aelnt;retained, collateralized by RMBS had a princigdance of $2.0 billion. The debt
matures between the years 2035 and 2047. At DemeBih 2010, the debt carried a weighted averageatdinancing equal to 5.17%.
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The following table presents the estimated prirlaippayment schedule of the securitized debt andrig&zed debt, nometained hel:
by the Company at June 30, 2011 and December 30, Pased on expected cash flows of the residentaigage loans or RMBS, as
adjusted for projected losses, collateralizingdbbt. All of the securitized debt recorded in @@mpany’s consolidated statements of
financial condition is non-recourse to the Company.

December 3:
June 30, 201 201C
(dollars in thousand:

Within One Yeal $ 569,62( $ 634,98t
One to Three Yeal 743,04¢ 831,30!
Three to Five Year 338,62t 305,95¢
Greater Than or Equal to Five Yei 464,97 417,97
Total $ 2,116,26. $ 2,190,22:

Maturities of the Company’s securitized debt aneesielent upon cash flows received from the undegligans. The estimate of their
repayment is based on scheduled principal paynoentse underlying loans. This estimate will diffesm actual amounts to the extent
prepayments and/or loan losses are experiencezeiN&e 4 for a more detailed discussion of thedazoilateralizing the securitized debt.

8. Consolidation

In June 2009, the FASB issued two new accountiadstrds that amended guidance applicable to ttmiating for transfers of
financial assets and the consolidation of Varidblerest Entities (“VIES") (ASC 860 and ASC 810spectively). The primary effect of these
standards was to eliminate the concept of a QPSEhwlansferring assets and to remove the exemptiarQSPE when applying the
consolidation standard. The Company adopted theseaccounting standards as of January 1, 2010.

The Company uses securitization trusts or variaigest entities in its securitization and re-sization transactions. Prior to
January 1, 2010, these variable interest entitigistne definition of QSPE’s and, as such, weresnbfect to consolidation. Effective January
1, 2010, all such variable interest entities wemesadered for consolidation based on the criteria$C 810.

Per ASC 810, an entity shall consolidate a VIE wttext entity has a variable interest that provithesreporting entity with a
controlling financial interest. The assessmerthefcharacteristics of the reporting ensty/|IE shall consider the VIEs purpose and desiy
controlling financial interest is defined as (2@ thower to direct the activities of a VIE that msigmificantly impact the VIEs economic
performance and (b) the obligation to absorb los$dise VIE that could potentially be significaotthe VIE and/or the right to receive
benefits from the VIE that could potentially bersfgcant to the VIE.

Since the Company'’s inception, the Company hadeuealEs for the purpose of securitizing whole rgage loans or reecuritizing
RMBS and obtaining permanent, nm@tourse term financing. The Company evaluateidtiésest in each securitization trust VIE to detem
the primary beneficiary status. The Company detezththat seven trusts, one of which had been tiolased since its inception, met the
requirements of consolidation. The Company deteeghihat in these seven securitizations, basealimly all of the subordinate interests
maintains the obligation to absorb losses andfritiht to receive benefits from the VIE that cobtlsignificant to the VIE. In addition, the
Company had the power to direct activities of tiusttor was determined to have the ability to aaritre trust due to its contribution in the
purpose and design of the structure. The remaimiogrusts evaluated did not meet the requiremient®nsolidate due to the inability to
control one of the trusts and the lack of obligasido absorb losses on the other trust.

VIEs for Which the Company is the Primary Beneficiary

Based on the Company’s consolidation evaluaticeGbmpany consolidated three VIEs on January 10 8t were not previously
consolidated and consolidated three VIEs thateatd during 2010. The Company’s retained berréfitierest is typically the subordinated
tranches of these re-securitizations and in sorsescthe Company may hold interests in additioaalctnes. The effect is the inclusion of an
additional $2.2 billion of non-Agency RMBS at famlue no longer retained by the Company and thesmn in its liabilities of $1.9 billion
of non-recourse securitized debt associated wébkehe-securitizations.
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On an ongoing basis, the Company expects that te Will be fair valued as Level 2 assets. Lireris pertaining to the third-party
owned interests are separately stated within thegamy’s consolidated financial statements and é&bat “non-retained”.

The trusts are structured as pass through ertitéseceive principal and interest on the undegd\dollateral and distribute those
payments to the certificate holders. The asseto#rer instruments held by the securitizationtiergtiare restricted in that they can only be
used to fulfill the obligations of the securitizzatientity. Additionally, the obligations of thecseitization entities do not have any recourse to
the general credit of any other consolidated sudnsés, nor to the Company as the primary beneaficidhe Company’s risks associated with
its involvement with these VIEs is limited to iisks and rights as a certificate holder of the Isahtias retained. See Note 5 for a discussion
of the fair value measurement of the assets abiities.

The assets of the securitization entities constdiiy the Company are similar in nature to the gamy’s portfolio as a whole. Tt
securitization entities are all composed of RMB$hef quality and characteristics of assets refteoteghe RMBS classifications found in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. Sate R for a discussion of the securities charasttesi of the portfolio.

The table below presents the assets and liabibfiesnsolidated entities as of January 1, 2010e dumulative effect adjustment
reflects the reversal of realized gains of $98.llioni previously recorded on the sales of theselpeansolidated trusts net of the additional
accretion of discounts due to consolidating thettru

Carrying Value

1)
(dollars in
thousands
Assets
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior, no-retainec $ 1,114,083
Liabilities
Securitized debt, n-retained 1,202,22.
Net assets and liabilities of newly consolidatetities (88,187
Cumulative effect adjustment to retained earninmsnuadoptior $ (88,18)

(1) Carrying value represents the amount the assmifd have been recorded at in the consolidateahfiial statements at January 1, 201 )
had they been recorded in the consolidated finhatagements on the date the Company first metaohelitions for consolidatior

The cumulative effect of adopting ASC 810 on Japdar2010 based on the shares outstanding on dt@twhs to reduce the
beginning book value of the Company by $0.13 paresh

The table below reflects the assets and liabilitse®rded in the consolidated statements of firsmeindition related to the
consolidated securitization entities as of June28@1 and December 31, 2010.

December 31,
June 30, 201 2010
(dollars in thousand:

Assets
Non-Agency RMBS $ 3,826,480 $ 4,357,63.
Securitized loan 302,87¢ 353,53
Liabilities
Securitized debt, n-retained $ 1,904,931 $ 1,956,07!
Securitized debt, loans held for investm 245,98 289,23t
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The consolidation of these securitization entitieseases both the income and expense recordad tonhsolidated statements of
operations for the Company as detailed in the thblew.

For the Quarter Ende

June 30, 201 June 30, 201
(dollars in thousand:
Interest income, nc-retainec $ 28,42¢ $ 49,82¢
Interest income, securitized loa 4,20: 4,421
Interest expense, n-retainec 28,31: 21,42
Interest expense, securized lo. 4,522 4,75¢
Net interest incom $ (203 $ 28,07
For the Six Months Ende
June 30, 201 June 30, 201
(dollars in thousand:
Interest income, nc-retainec $ 49587 $ 100,69(
Interest income, securitized loa 8,70 11,07«
Interest expense, n-retainec 55,88 55,25!
Interest expense, securitized loi 9,472 9,56:
Net interest incom $ (7,070 $ 46,95(

A discussion of the significant accounting polici#the Company to record income and expense Igded in Note 2 to these
consolidated financial statements. The effectdoiing ASC 810 based on the weighted average shatstanding had no material effect on
the net interest income of the Company for thensimths ended June 30, 2011.

The effect of the consolidation of these secutiiiraentities on the consolidated statements di dasvs for the Company is
presented in the table below for the periods pitesen

For the Six Months Ende

June 30, 201 June 30, 201
(dollars in thousand:
Proceeds from securitized debt borrowings,-retained $ 311,01 $ 1,127,87.
Payments on securitized debt borrowings,-retained (362,159 (229,367
Payments on securitized debt borrowings, loans foelshvestmen (43,257 (48,417
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest recer (634) (9,345
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest pa 454 9,212
Net cash flows, nc-retainec $ (94,579 $ 849,96(

VIEs for Which the Company is Not the Primary Beneficiary

The table below represents the carrying amountskassification of assets recorded on the Comparprsolidated financial
statements related to its variable interests incarsolidated VIEs, as well as its maximum exposoress as a result of its involvement with
these VIEs.

June 30, 201 December 31, 201
Amortized Cos Fair Value Amortized Cos Fair Value
(dollars in thousand:
Assets
Non-Agency RMBS
Senior $ 338 $ 455 $ 40C $ 55¢
Subordinatec 6,617 6,087 7,66¢ 6,48¢
Agency RMBS 2,25¢F 2,61¢ 2,68( 2,53(
Total $ 9,21C $ 9,161 $ 10,74 $ 9,57¢
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The Company'’s involvement with VIEs for which itrist the primary beneficiary generally are in tbenf of purchasing securities
issued by the trusts similar to its investmentsthier RMBS that are not part of a trust it has ea@ld for consolidation. The Company’s
maximum exposure to loss in these entities is sgmied by the fair value of these assets. Thisuabapes not include OTTI or other write-
downs that the Company previously recognized thnoeaynings.

9. Interest Rate Swaps

In connection with the Company’s interest rate nsnagement strategy, the Company economicallydsedgortion of its interest
rate risk by entering into derivative financialtinsnent contracts. These derivative financialrinsient contracts do not qualify as hedges
under ASC 815 Derivatives and Hedging. As of 802011 and December 31, 2010, such instrumeatscamprised of interest rate swaps,
which in effect modify the cash flows on repurchageeements. The use of interest rate swaps sregp®sure to credit risk relating to
potential losses that could be recognized if thenterparties to these instruments fail to perfdmeirtobligations under the contracts. In the
event of a default by the counterparty, the Companuld have difficulty obtaining its RMBS pledgesl @ollateral for swaps. The Company
does not anticipate any defaults by its counteigmrt

The Company’s swaps are used to lock in a fixesl related to a portion of its current and anti@gatepurchase agreements.

The table below summarizes the location and fdirevaf interest rate swaps reported in the Conatdidl Statements of Financial
Condition as of June 30, 2011 and December 31,.2010

Net Estimated Net Estimated

Fair Fair Value of
Location on Consolidated Value/Carrying RMBS Pledged ¢
Statement of Financial Conditic Notional Amount Value Collateral
(dollars in thousand:
June 30, 201 Assets $ - % - 8 -
June 30, 201 Liabilities $ 950,00 $ (19,659 $ 23,29¢
December 31, 201 Assets $ - 3 - $ -
December 31, 201 Liabilities $ 450,000 $ (9,989 $ 12,81¢

The effect of the Company'’s interest rate swaptherConsolidated Statements of Operations and Gaimepsive Income (Loss) is
presented below.

Location on Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Income (L

Realized Gains Unrealized Gain
(Losses) on Interest  (Losses) on Interest
Rate Swap Rate Swap

(dollars in thousand:

For the Quarter Ende

June 30, 201 $ (4,297 $ (29,500
June 30, 201 $ (699 $ (11,237
For the Six Months Ende:

June 30, 201 $ (7,149 $ (9,66¢)
June 30, 201 $ (699 $ (11,237)

The weighted average pay rate on the Company’seisiteate swaps at June 30, 2011 was 2.08% amvdkiighted average receive
rate was 0.19%. The weighted average pay rathe@ompany’s interest rate swaps at June 30, 205@®v69% and the weighted average
receive rate was 0.35%.
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The Company enters into interest rate swap comstraith counterparties utilizing standard InternatibSwap Dealers Association
Master Agreements (“ISDA”) that create exposurertmit risk relating to potential losses that caoddrecognized if the counterparties to
these instruments fail to perform their obligatiomgler the contracts. These ISDAs have terms anehants, the breach of which would
permit the counterparty to terminate the agreerattite time when the Company is in a net loss iposit

10. Common Stock

On January 28, 2011 the Company entered into aityedjstribution agreement with FIDAC and UBS Setias LLC
(“UBS"). Through this agreement, the Company mely/through UBS, as its sales agent, up to 1250@@shares of its common stock in
ordinary brokers’ transactions at market pricestber transactions as agreed between the CompanyB8. The Company did not sell any
shares of its common stock under the equity digtidin agreement during the six months ended Jup2CgiL.

On September 24, 2009, the Company implementedidedid reinvestment and share purchase plan (“DRSHPe DRSPP
provides holders of record of its common stock ppastunity to automatically reinvest all or a portiof their cash distributions received on
common stock in additional shares of our commooksas well as to make optional cash payments tohaise shares of our common stock.
Persons who are not already stockholders may alsdh@se our common stock under the plan througbmadtcash payments. The DRSPI
administered by the Administrator, The Bank of Néark Mellon. During the six months ended June 30, 2the Company raised $542
thousand by issuing 134,538 shares through the [PRBRring the six months ended June 30, 2010 tmepaay raised $123 thousand by
issuing 32,138 shares through the DRSPP.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2011 the Comgdeadhared dividends to common shareholders tot&i88.4 million or $0.13 p¢
share. During the quarter ended June 30, 201@ dhepany declared dividends to common sharehotd&bng $130.4 million or $0.17 per
share.

During the six months ended June 30, 2011 the Coyngeclared dividends to common shareholders ta&R277.1 million or $0.2
per share. During the six months ended June 3M,28e Company declared dividends to common sbétets totaling $244.2 million or
$0.34 per share.

On March 31, 2010, the Company announced the §&&,000,000 shares of common stock at a price8d$per share in a public
offering. In addition, the underwriters exercighd option to purchase an additional 12,750,008eshaf common stock to cover
overallotments. The aggregate net proceeds thep@ayreceived before expenses in this sale wemgippately $352.7 million. This sale
was completed on April 7, 2010.

On June 22, 2010, the Company announced the sa@0gd00,000 shares of common stock at a pric@ @1$per share in a public
offering. In addition, the underwriters exercisgkd option to purchase an additional 15,000,00@eshaf common stock to cover
overallotments. The aggregate net proceeds thep@ayreceived before expenses in this sale wemmxzippately $415.0 million. This sale
was completed on June 28, 2010.

There was no preferred stock issued or outstarangf June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010.
11. Long Term Incentive Plan

The Company has adopted a long term stock inceptaureto provide incentives to its independentaes and employees of
FIDAC and its affiliates, to stimulate their effetowards the Company’s continued success, lomg-geowth and profitability and to attract,
reward and retain personnel and other service geosi The incentive plan authorizes the Compeams@bmmittee of the board of directors
to grant awards, including incentive stock optiams-qualified stock options, restricted shares@thér types of incentive awards. The
specific award granted to an individual is basednypn part, the individual's position within FIDAGhe individual’s position within the
Company, his or her contribution to the Companggg@mance, market practices, as well as the recamdiations of FIDAC. The incentive
plan authorizes the granting of options or othearals for an aggregate of the greater of 8.0% obthstanding shares of the Company’s
common stock up to a ceiling of 40,000,000 shares.
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On January 2, 2008, the Company granted restrgttedk awards in the amount of 1,301,000 share$DAE's employees and the
Company’s independent directors. The awards tintthependent directors vested on the date of gnadithe awards to FIDAC’s employees
vest quarterly over a period of 10 years. Of theswes, as of June 30, 2011, 479,400 shares batedvand 44,525 shares were forfeited or
cancelled.

As of June 30, 2011 there was $14.6 million ofltotaecognized compensation costs related to netedeshardrased compensati
arrangements granted under the long term inceptarg based on the closing price of the shares@gitant date. That cost is expected to be
recognized over a weightenrerage period of 6.5 years. The total fair valughares vested, less those forfeited, during tiaetgr ended Jur
30, 2011 was $121 thousand, based on the closiog @irthe stock on the vesting date.

12. Income Taxes

As long as the Company qualifies as a REIT, the @y is not subject to Federal income tax to thergxhat it makes qualifying
distributions to its stockholders, and providesatisfies on a continuing basis, through actusdstment and operating results, the REIT
requirements including certain asset, income, ibistion and stock ownership tests. Most statesgeize REIT status as well. During the
quarter ended June 30, 2011 the Company recordgitfibtusand in income tax expense related to eggrihits TRS and state income
taxes. During the quarter ended June 30, 201@Cdmepany recorded $1,000 income tax expense relatstdte and local minimum tax
liabilities.

In general, common stock cash dividends declarethidy¥ompany will be considered ordinary incomsttxkholders for income t:
purposes. From time to time, a portion of the Canys dividends may be characterized as capitalsgai return of capital. For the quarters
ended June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the &@gngstimates that all income distributed in threnfof dividends will be characterized
as ordinary income.

The Company files tax returns in several U.S. dlicsons, including New York State and New York\CitThe 2007 through 2010
tax years remain open to U.S. federal, state aral tax examinations.

13. Credit Risk and Interest Rate Risk

The Company’s primary components of market riskcaeglit risk and interest rate risk. The Compangubject to interest rate risk
in connection with its investments in Agency and#mency residential mortgage loans and creditiseasRMBS. When the Company
assumes interest rate risk, it attempts to minirritgrest rate risk through asset selection, hegdgimd matching the income earned on
mortgage assets with the cost of related liabdliti®#he Company is subject to interest rate rigkagrily in connection with its investments in
fixed-rate and adjustable-rate RMBS, residentiaftgage loans, and borrowings under repurchase mgm&s. The Company attempts to
minimize credit risk through due diligence and asséection by purchasing loans underwritten teadrupon specifications of selected
originators. The Company has established a wloale target market including prime borrowers witE®Iscores generally greater than 650,
Alt-A documentation, geographic diversification, mev-occupied property, and moderate loan to valtie.r These factors are considered to
be important indicators of credit risk.

14. Management Agreement and Related Party Trans&ons

The Company has entered into a management agreeritleriiiDAC, which provided for an initial term thugh December 31, 2010
with an automatic one-year extension option andestibo certain termination rights. On November 2810, the Compensation Committee
of the Board of Directors renewed the managemengieagent through December 31, 2011. The Company B&AC a quarterly
management fee equal to 1.50% per annum of the @wekholders’ Equity (as defined in the managdaragreement) of the Company.

Management fees accrued and paid to FIDAC for tlaatgrs ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 were $13i@mahd $9.2 million,
respectively. Management fees accrued and pdtXAC for the six months ended June 30, 2011 arid2@ere $25.9 million and $17.4
million, respectively.

The Company is obligated to reimburse FIDAC forcibsts incurred under the management agreemeiaiddition, the management
agreement permits FIDAC to require the Companyatpfpr its pro rata portion of rent, telephonelitigis, office furniture, equipment,
machinery and other office, internal and overhegikases that FIDAC incurred in the operation of@lmenpany. These expenses are
allocated between FIDAC and the Company based@rsatio of the Company’s proportion of gross assetspared to all remaining gross
assets managed by FIDAC as calculated at eachequend. FIDAC and the Company will modify thisogthtion methodology, subject to the
Company'’s board of directorapproval if the allocation becomes inequitable (ifehe Company becomes very highly leveraged maned tc
FIDAC's other funds and accounts). During the tgraand six months ended June 30, 2011 the Comedmipursed FIDAC approximately
$170,000 and $316,000 for such expenses. Duringuhger and six months ended June 30, 2010, thep@oy reimbursed FIDAC
approximately $148,000 and $148,000 for such exgrens
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On March 1, 2011, the Company entered into an adirétive services agreement with RCap Securities (“RCap”). RCap is a
SEC registered broker-dealer and a wholly-ownedislidry of Annaly, to clear its securities tradesl &Cap receives customary market-
based fees and charges in return for such serviBasging the quarter and six months ended Jun@@01, administrative fees paid to RCAP
were $55 thousand.

During the quarters ended June 30, 2011 and Juriz030, 31,600 shares and 33,725 shares of restistock issued by the
Company to FIDACS employees vested, respectively, as discussedtenMN.. During the quarter ended June 30, 201and 30, 2010, 9
shares and 2,112 shares of restricted stock idsudte Company to FIDAC's employees were forfeitedpectively.

During the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 3002010, 63,200 shares and 65,950 shares ofcteststock issued by the
Company to FIDAC'’s employees vested, respectivElyring the quarter ended June 30, 2011 and Jun2030, 1,500 shares and 2,697
shares of restricted stock issued by the CompafyéC’s employees were forfeited, respectively.

In April 2009, the Company entered into a Secwgitredustry and Financial Markets Association statigimeprinted form Master
Repurchase Agreement with RCap Securities, Inds §tandard agreement does not contain any stiquidity, net worth or other similar
types of positive or negative covenants. Ratleraigreement contains covenants that require e lamd seller of securities to deliver
collateral or securities, and similar covenantsolttare customary in master repurchase agreemantkine 30, 2011 and December 31, 2
the Company had no financing under this agreenidre.Company has been in compliance with all covenafithis agreement since it
entered into this agreement.

In March 2008, the Company entered into a Secaritidustry and Financial Markets Association statigeprinted form Master
Repurchase Agreement with Annaly. This standardeagent does not contain any sort of liquidity,wetth or other similar types of
positive or negative covenants. Rather, the ageeégontains covenants that require the buyer alher ©f securities to deliver collateral or
securities, and similar covenants which are custgrimamaster repurchase agreements. At June 3, 20d December 31, 2010, the
Company had no financing under this agreement.Gdrapany has been in compliance with all covenaitisi® agreement since it entered
into this agreement.

15. Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may become invoiwedharious claims and legal actions arising indndinary course of
business. Management is not aware of any unrepodaetingencies at June 30, 2011.

16. Subsequent Events

The Company has reviewed subsequent events anuniledd that no subsequent events occurred thatdwreguire accrual or
additional disclosure.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
We make forward-looking statements in this replaat are subject to risks and uncertainties. Theseaird-looking statements

include information about possible or assumed &utesults of our business, financial conditionyilility, results of operations, plans and

objectives. When we use the words “believe,” ‘fect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “plan,” “c ontinue,” “intend,” “should,” “may,”
“WOuld,” 13

will” or similar expressions, we intad to identify forward-looking statements. Statatseegarding the following subjects,
among others, are forward-looking by their nature:

« our business and investment strategy;

« our projected financial and operating results;

« our ability to maintain existing financing arrangemts, obtain future financing arrangements andehmas of such arrangements;
« general volatility of the securities markets in afive invest;

« the impact of and changes to various governmergraros;

« our expected investments;

« changes in the value of our investments;

« interest rate mismatches between our investmewt®anborrowings used to fund such purchases;

« changes in interest rates and mortgage prepayrags; r

. effects of interest rate caps on our adjustableiratestments;

« rates of default or decreased recovery rates omwastments;

» prepayments of the mortgage and other loans uridgrbur mortgage-backed or other asset-backedisesur
« the degree to which our hedging strategies mayayr mot protect us from interest rate volatility;

« impact of and changes in governmental regulatislaw and rates, accounting guidance, and simikiters;
« availability of investment opportunities in reatae-related and other securities;

« availability of qualified personnel;

» estimates relating to our ability to make distribn$ to our stockholders in the future;

« our understanding of our competition; and

« market trends in our industry, interest rates,dilet securities markets or the general economy.
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The forward-looking statements are based on ouefsehssumptions and expectations of our futureopmance, taking into account
all information currently available to us. You skunot place undue reliance on these forward-loplsitatements. These beliefs, assumptions
and expectations can change as a result of mamsjbmevents or factors, not all of which are knawmis. Some of these factors are
described under the caption “Risk Factors” in owost recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and angegbent Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q. If a change occurs, our business, finargabition, liquidity and results of operations mayy materially from those expressed in our
forward-looking statements. Any forward-lookingtstaent speaks only as of the date on which it idenBlew risks and uncertainties arise
from time to time, and it is impossible for us tegict those events or how they may affect us.efkas required by law, we are not oblig:
to, and do not intend to, update or revise any &mdalooking statements, whether as a result ofinfavmation, future events or otherwise.
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Executive Summary

We acquire, either directly or indirectly througlrsubsidiaries, residential mortgage-backed seéesiyrior RMBS, residential
mortgage loans, commercial mortgage loans, reateestlated securities and various other assetadasWe are externally managed by Fixed
Income Discount Advisory Company, which we refeasoFIDAC or our Manager. FIDAC is a fixed-incoineestment management
company that is registered as an investment adwislethe Securities and Exchange Commission, d2.SEIDAC is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Annaly Capital Management, Inc., omaly. FIDAC has a broad range of experience inagang investments in Agency
RMBS, which are mortgage pass-through certificateBateralized mortgage obligations, or CMOs, atiter RMBS representing interests in
or obligations backed by pools of mortgage loassas or guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie MacGamtie Mae, non-Agency RMBS,
collateralized debt obligations, or CDOs, and otieat estate related investments.

We have elected and intend to qualify to be taxeed REIT for federal income tax purposes commenwiitly our taxable year ended
December 31, 2007. Our targeted asset classab@apdincipal investments we expect to make in eaetas follows:

Asset Class Principal Investments

RMBS e Non-Agency RMBS, including investment-grade and non-
investment grade classes, including the BB-ratetht&d and
nor-rated classe:

e Agency RMBS.

Residential Mortgage Loans e Prime mortgage loans, which are mortgage loartscthrdform to
the underwriting guidelines of Fannie Mae and Freddac,
which we refer to as Agency Guidelines; and jumbmp
mortgage loans, which are mortgage loans that confo the
Agency Guidelines except as to loan s

e Alt-A mortgage loans, which are mortgage loans thay have
been originated using documentation standardsatiedess
stringent than the documentation standards appljezbrtain
other first lien mortgage loan purchase programeh ss the
Agency Guidelines, but have one or more compergpéictors
such as a borrower with a strong credit or mortdagiry or
significant asset:

e FHA/VA insured loans, which are mortgage loang tieemply to
the underwriting guidelines of the Federal Housing
Administration (FHA) or Department of Veteran Affai(VA)
and which are guaranteed by the FHA or VA, respelbti
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Commercial Mortgage Loans e First or second lien loans secured by multifamilgperties,
which are residential rental properties consistihfjve or more
dwelling units; and mixed residential or other coemaial
properties; retail properties; office propertiesjralustrial
properties, which may or may not conform to the Age
Guidelines.

Other Asse-Backed Securitie e CMBS.
e Debt and equity tranches of CDt

e Consumer and non-consumer ABS, including investrgeade
and non-investment grade classes, including the&&d, B-
rated and nc-rated classe:

Our objective is to provide attractive risk-adjubsteturns to our investors over the long-term, prity through dividends and
secondarily through capital appreciation. We idtemachieve this objective by investing in a broass of financial assets to construct an
investment portfolio that is designed to achievmative risk-adjusted returns and that is strieduo comply with the various federal income
tax requirements for REIT status and to maintainesemption from the Investment Company Act of 13#0the 1940 Act.

Since we commenced operations in November 200 hawve focused our investment activities on acquinog-Agency RMBS and
on purchasing residential mortgage loans that baea originated by select high-quality originatamsjuding the retail lending operations of
leading commercial banks. Our investment portf@ioveighted toward non-Agency RMBS. At June 3 Rapproximately 71.5% of our
investment portfolio’s principal value was non-AggrRMBS, 25.5% of our investment portfolio’s pripal value was Agency RMBS, and
3.0% of our investment portfolio’s principal valuas secured residential mortgage loans. At DeceBhe2010, approximately 83.4% of
our investment portfolio’s principal value was ndgency RMBS, 12.6% of our investment portfolio’snmipal value was Agency RMBS,
and 4.0% of our investment portfolio’s principalu@awas secured residential mortgage loans. Weatxpat over the near term our
investment portfolio will continue to be weighteniard RMBS, subject to maintaining our REIT quaktion and our 1940 Act exemption.

Our investment strategy is intended to take adggntd opportunities in the current interest raté aredit environment. We will
adjust our strategy to changing market conditionshifting our asset allocations across these varasset classes as interest rate and credit
cycles change over time. We believe that ouresgsgtcombined with FIDAG experience, will enable us to pay dividends aitdexe capite
appreciation throughout changing market cycles. eifeect to take a long-term view of assets andliligis, and our reported earnings and
mark-to-market valuations at the end of a finaneglorting period will not significantly impact oabjective of providing attractive risk-
adjusted returns to our stockholders over the kemngp.

We use leverage to seek to increase our poteptiains and to fund the acquisition of our assétsr income is generated primarily
by the difference, or net spread, between the ircamm earn on our assets and the cost of our bargswiWe expect to finance our
investments using a variety of financing sourcetuiting, when available, repurchase agreementsheaise facilities, securitizations,
commercial paper and term financing CDOs. We mawpage our debt by utilizing interest rate hedgesh |s interest rate swaps, to reduce
the effect of interest rate fluctuations relatedtio debt.

Trends

We expect the results of our operations to be &fteby various factors, many of which are beyondamntrol. Our results of
operations will primarily depend on, among othéngls, the level of our net interest income, thekatwwalue of our assets, and the supply of
and demand for such assets. Our net interest iecatnich reflects the amortization of purchase puems and accretion of discounts, varies
primarily as a result of changes in interest rates;owing costs, credit losses, and prepaymergdspevhich is a measurement of how qui
borrowers pay down the unpaid principal balancéheir mortgage loans.
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Prepayment Speeds . Prepayment speeds, as reflected by the Constepayment Rate, or CPR, vary according to interdss, the
type of investment, conditions in financial marketsd other factors, none of which can be prediati¢hl any certainty. In general, when
interest rates rise, it is relatively less attnaetior borrowers to refinance their mortgage loams as a result, prepayment speeds tend to
decrease. When interest rates fall, prepaymetdspend to increase. For mortgage loan and RMB&stments purchased at a premium, as
prepayment speeds increase, the amount of inconsammedecreases because the purchase premiumdv@iptiie bonds amortizes faster
than expected. Conversely, decreases in prepayspeatls result in increased income and can extengeriod over which we amortize the
purchase premium. For mortgage loan and RMBS invests purchased at a discount, as prepayment simeeelase, the amount of income
we earn increases because of the acceleratiom afcitretion of the discount into interest incomeny&rsely, decreases in prepayment speed:
result in decreased income and can extend thedhevier which we accrete the purchase discountiimésest income. In the recent past, the
correlation between falling interest rates andeasing prepayment speeds has not evidenced iseléftain asset classes. Due to continuing
economic hardship in the general economy, sometens have been unable to refinance their loafsater interest rates as credit
conditions remain restrictive.

Rising Interest Rate Environment . As indicated above, as interest rates rise, gym@ent speeds generally decrease. Rising interest
rates, however, increase our financing costs wimali result in a net negative impact on our netr@stincome. In addition, if we acquire
Agency and non-Agency RMBS collateralized by montielset adjustable-rate mortgages, or ARMs, arekthand five-year hybrid ARMs,
such interest rate increases could result in deessim our net investment income, as there coulltbming mismatch between the interest
reset dates on our RMBS portfolio and the finandaosts of these investments. We expect, thatieed{frate assets would decline in value in
a rising interest rate environment and that ouiimetest spreads on fixed rate assets could detlia rising interest rate environment to the
extent such assets are financed with floatingdets.

Falling Interest Rate Environment . As interest rates fall, prepayment speeds gépénarease. Falling interest rates, however,
decrease our financing costs which may resultrietgpositive impact on our net interest incomeaddition, if we acquire Agency and non-
Agency RMBS collateralized by monthly reset adjbktarate mortgages, or ARMs, and three- and fivarygbrid ARMs, such interest rate
decreases could result in increases in our nestmant income, as there could be a timing mismbétiveen the interest rate reset dates on
our RMBS portfolio and the financing costs of théseestments. We expect, however, that our fixad-assets would increase in value in a
falling interest rate environment and that ourintdrest spreads on fixed rate assets could ineti@as falling interest rate environment to the
extent such assets are financed with floatingdets.

Credit Risk. One of our strategic focuses is acquiring assetshwhie believe to be of high credit quality. Weibet this strategy
will generally keep our credit losses and finanangts low. We also focus on acquiring distressattAgency RMBS that have been
downgraded because of defaults in the mortgagéstelizing such RMBS. When we acquire such RMBSattempt to purchase it at a
price such that its loss-adjusted return profilmibne with our targeted yields. We retain tiekrof potential credit losses on all of the
residential mortgage loans we hold in our portfeigowell as all of the non-Agency RMBS. We attetognitigate credit risk in the asset
selection process. Prior to the purchase of imvests, we conduct a credit-risk based analysieetollateral securing our investment that
includes examining borrower characteristics, ggolgiaconcentrations, current and projected delingies, current and projected severities,
and actual and expected prepayment speeds amaggcbtiracteristics to formulate expected losses.

Sze of Investment Portfolio . The size of our investment portfolio, as meadimgthe aggregate unpaid principal balance of our
mortgage loans and aggregate principal balanceroiortgage related securities and the other aggetsvn is also a key revenue
driver. Generally, as the size of our investmentfplio grows, the amount of interest income wesetige increases. The larger investment
portfolio, however, drives increased expenses amete additional interest expense to finance thielpase of our assets.

Summary. Our net interest income per share, including tiieceébf payments on interest rate swaps and ciesties related to
principal write-downs, for the quarter and six mtenénded June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010 deciiegsad due to the increase in credit
losses and an increase in the costs paid on thegttrate hedges. As expected, credit lossdseoman-Agency portfolio increased for the
quarter and six months ending June 30, 2011 asa@dpo June 30, 2010. As the credit enhancenfentresecurities is eroded we expect
the portfolio to continue to record credit loss&¥e believe the significant discount at which weghased the assets provides us with
sufficient protection against actual net lossesninvestments while we hold them to maturity.atidition, we added additional interest rate
swaps during the current quarter that increasecheuinterest expense. Interest income earnedioassets, including the effect of credit
losses associated with principal write downs, dedlidue to a declining weighted average coupohepartfolio, the change in the asset
composition of the portfolio to include more amairig rather than accreting assets, and to theaserprincipal write downs on our non-
Agency portfolio for the quarter and six monthsiegdlune 30, 2011 as compared to June 30, 2010.
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Financial Condition
Estimated Economic Book Valu

This Management Discussion and Analysis sectiotiatas analysis and discussion of financial infoliorathat utilizes or presents
ratios based on GAAP book value. The table ancudison below present our estimated economic bahlev We calculate and disclose this
non-GAAP measurement because we believe it repieeen estimated economic book value at the measnedate.

On January 1, 2010 GAAP required us to consolidat&in resecuritization transactions we consummated dur@@®zand 2010. |
these re-securitizations, we transferred assetgetee-securitization trusts, which issued tranafesenior and subordinate notes or
certificates. We sold the senior tranches ancefbez have no continuing involvement in these srasher than being a holder of notes or
certificates issued by the trusts, with the samgletsi of other holders of the notes or certificat€ke notes and certificates we own that were
issued by the trusts are largely subordinatedéstsrin those trusts. The trusts have no recdarser assets other than pursuant to a breach
by us of the transaction documents related tortrester of the assets by us to the trusts.

GAAP requires us to fair value and present thetasdehese trusts on our consolidated statemdrfiisamcial condition as if we still
owned the underlying securities we transferredhéottusts. We present the assets related to tielidated trusts in our consolidated
statements of financial position as a componemioofAgency RMBS identified as senior, non-retaireat the liabilities as securitized debt,
non-retained. We have fair valued the underlyiecusities we transferred to the trusts for thedaltioon of GAAP book value in accordance
with our pricing policy, as described more fullydar critical accounting estimates, and recordedcthirresponding liability for the notes or
certificates sold to third parties. All fair valadjustments are recorded in Other Comprehensoaria.

However, because of the governing documents dfrtists we are unable to sell the underlying seiesrive transferred into the tru
as we no longer own those securities, we also ptesg estimated economic book value. We belibiereasure represents the estimated
value of the securities issued by these trustswkadwn. In contrast to GAAP book value, our eatieal economic book value considers only
the assets we own or are able to dispose of, pledgeherwise monetize. To determine our estichatnomic book value, we fair value the
notes or certificates issued by the re-securitratiusts that we actually own in accordance withgricing policy. Accordingly, our
estimated economic book value does not includesassdiabilities for which we have no continuingdlvement, specifically the notes or
certificates of the reecuritization trusts that were sold to third perti We believe this estimate represents the wddltlee assets that we hc
in our portfolio should we decide to sell, pledgeptherwise dispose of assets as of the measutetaen

At June 30, 2011 the difference between GAAP baakerand estimated economic book value was deterhimbe $271.8
million. At December 31, 2010 the difference betw&AAP book value and estimated economic bookevalas determined to be $374.5
million. This difference is primarily driven byémature of the assets we have retained in thesecrgitization transactions as compared to
the nature of underlying securities in these tratisas. In these re-securitization transactiorsyetained the subordinated, typically non-
rated, first loss notes or certificates issuedHgyre-securitization trusts. These securitiesanmplex, typically locked out as to principal
repayment, relatively illiquid, and do not necedgappreciate or depreciate in tandem with theadey non-Agency RMBS market or with
the underlying securities owned by the trusts. fHires below present the adjustments to GAAP badke that we believe necessary to
adequately reflect our calculation of estimatedcheooic book value as of June 30, 2011 and Decenthe2®.0.
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Assets:
Non-Agency Mortgag-Backed Securities, at fair vali
Senior
Subordinatec
Senior, no-retained
Agency Mortgag-Backed Securities, at fair val
Securitized loans held for investment, net of alose for loan losse
Other current assets

Total assets

Repurchase agreemel
Securitized dek

Securitized debt, n-retained
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

Book Value Per Share

Assets:
Non-Agency Mortgag-Backed Securities, at fair vali
Senior
Subordinatec
Senior, no-retained
Agency Mortgag-Backed Securities, at fair val
Securitized loans held for investment, net of alose for loan losse
Other current assets

Total assets

Repurchase agreemel
Securitized dek

Securitized debt, n-retained
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

Book Value Per Share
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June 30, 2011

Estimated
GAAP Book Economic Book
Value Adjustments Value

(dollars in thousand:

$ 347,900 $ - 3 347,90(

2,173,00! - 2,173,00!

2,176,69; (2,176,69) -

5,013,76I - 5,013,76I

302,87¢ - 302,87¢

74,87: - 74,87:

$ 10,089,100 $ (2,176,69) $ 7,912,41

4,320,48 - 4,320,48

245,98 - 245,98

1,904,933 (1,904,93)) -

179,16 - 179,16

6,650,57! (1,904,93) 4,745,63

3,438,53! (271,756 3,166,78:

$ 10,089,100 $ (2,176,69) $ 7,912,41

$ 3.3t $ (0.27) $ 3.0¢
December 31, 2010

Estimated
GAAP Book Economic Book
Value Adjustments Value

(dollars in thousands

$ 987,68 $ - 3 987,68!

2,210,85! - 2,210,85!

2,330,56! (2,330,56i) -

2,133,58. - 2,133,58.

353,53 - 353,53

57,47: - 57,47:

$ 8,073,700 $ (2,330,56) $ 5,743,13;

1,808,79 - 1,808,79

289,23t - 289,23t

1,956,07! (1,956,079 -

336,58: - 336,58:

4,390,69: (1,956,07) 2,434,61!

3,683,001 (374,489 3,308,51

$ 8,073,700 $ (2,330,56) $ 5,743,13;

$ 35¢ $ (0.36) $ 3.2¢




Our estimate of economic book value has imporiaritdtions. Our estimate of fair value is as gfant in time and subject to
significant judgment. Other market participantsyrdarive a different fair value for each asset thancalculate. Should we sell the assets in
our portfolio, we may realize materially differggroceeds from the sale than we have estimatedthg ofporting date.

Although we believe that the calculation of estietbéconomic value described above helps our marexgeand investors
understand the fair value of the assets we owrtlantabilities for which we are legally obligatdtlis of limited usefulness as an analytical
tool. It does not take account of the fair valfi@ssets that we do not own, but regarding whichwillebe the principal beneficiary of
increases in value above, and will bear the praddjprden of reductions in value to below, whatrently is anticipated. Therefore, the
estimated economic book value should not be viewésblation and is not a substitute for book vateenputed in accordance with GAAP.

Portfolio Review

At June 30, 2011 our portfolio consisted of $4Ifidn of non-Agency RMBS, $5.0 billion of Agency RBS, at fair value, and
$302.9 million of securitized mortgage loans, abdimed cost. At December 31, 2010, our portfobmsisted of $5.5 billion of non-Agency
RMBS, $2.1 billion of Agency RMBS and $353.5 miliiof securitized mortgage loans.

The following table summarizes certain charactessaf our portfolio at June 30, 2011 and 2010, Bedember 31, 2010. Asset
types under “Portfolio Composition, at principaluel’ represent the issued trust certificates artdhmunderlying collateral held by the
variable interest entities consolidated pursuait3€ 810:

December 31,

June 30, 201 June 30, 201 2010
Interest earning assets at pe-end * $ 10,014,23 $ 6,595,36. $ 8,016,22
Interest bearing liabilities at peri-end $ 6,471,40 $ 3,801,48! $ 4,054,11.
Leverage at peric-end 1.9:1 1.3:1 1.1:1
Leverage at peric-end (recourse 1.3:1 0.5:1 0.5:1
Portfolio Composition, at principal valt
Nor-Agency RMBS 71.5% 80.5% 83.4%
Senior 0.C% 5.2% 4.C%
Senior, interest onl 33.6% 25.9% 35.7%
Subordinatet 26.(% 30.2% 29.8%
Subordinated, interest on 1.€% 2.2% 1.8%
Senior, no-retained 10.2% 17.(% 12.1%
Agency RMBS 25.5% 13.2% 12.€%
Securitized loan 3.C% 6.1% 4.C%
Fixec-rate percentage of portfol 80.4% 72.4% 51.7%
Adjustablerate percentage of portfol 19.€% 27.€% 48.2%
Annualized yield on average interest earning ageetfie quarter ended’ 6.64% 8.41% 8.11%
Annualized cost of funds on average borrowed fdod¢he quarter ended** 2.4% 2.92% 4.1%

* Excludes cash and cash equivale
** |ncludes the effect of realized loss on principate-downs.
*** |ncludes the effect of interest paid on interest feedges

The following table presents details of each aslsests in our portfolio at June 30, 2011. The ppakor notional value represents
interest income earning balance of each class.wHighted average amortized cost, fair value, caup®ld, and CPR at period-end are
weighted by each investmest'espective principal/notional value in the astads. The figure presenting the annualized yieket the currer
quarter is the annualized interest income earneti®@asset class during the quarter, includingffect of principal write-downs, divided by
the average of the beginning and ending amortipstiaf the asset class.
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June 30, 201

Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted Weighted
Principal or ~ Amortized Average Weighted Average Annualized  Average 3
Notional Cost Basis Fair Average Yield (Loss  Yield Over  Month CPF
Value at at Value at Coupon at  Adjusted) a Current at Period-
Perio-End  Perio-End  Perio-End  Periot-End Perio-End Quarter* End
Non-Agency Mortgag-Backed Securitie
Senior $ 6,967 $ 98.61 $ 97.0:¢ 1.15% 2.5% 1.95% 16%
Senior, interest onl $ 6,387,91 $ 6.3t $ 5.34 1.91% 14.0% 4.12% 17%
Subordinatet $ 493849 $ 48.6¢ $ 43.3:2 4.05% 13.61% 18.4(% 17%
Subordinated, interest
only $ 301,61¢ $ 9.9t $ 11.1¢ 2.92% 23.9¢% 28.3¢% 14%
Senior, no-retainec $ 1,948,00. $ 98.0( $  111.7¢ 5.17% 4.5¢% 5.7(% 16%
Agency Mortgage-Backed
Securities $ 4,849,631 $ 1028 $ 104.4: 4.71% 4.34% 4.34% 7%
Securitized loan
Senior $ 252,15¢ $ 101.1¢ $  101.1¢ 5.47% 5.35% 2.35% 24%
Senior, interest onl $ 266,09 $ 0.01 $ 0.01 0.4(% 100.0(% 4428.5% 24%
Subordinatet $ 5488 $ 10054 $  100.5¢ 5.1€% -5.04% 16.4% 26%

* Includes the effect of realized loss on principaite-downs.

Our portfolio is primarily comprised of non-AgenBMBS which is subject to risk of loss with regaodprincipal repayment. The
following table summarizes certain characteristiceur non-Agency portfolio at June 30, 2011 andé&mwber 31, 2010. The information
presented in the table below includes senior, mbaisted non-Agency RMBS consolidated pursuanteattoption of ASC 810 on January 1,
2010

December
June 30,201 31, 201C

Number of securities in portfoli 523 581
Weighted average maturity (yea 27.C 27.4
Weighted average amortized loan to ve 72.2% 72.5%
Weighted average FIC 717.2 717.C
Weighted average loan balance (in thousa $470.1 $447.€
Weighted average percentage owner occu 84.2% 83.2%
Weighted average percentage single family resid 64.1% 63.1%
Weighted average current credit enhancer 12.7% 16.(%
Weighted average geographic concentra CA 38.1% CA 57.&%

FL 87% FL 13.2%
NY 5.5% NY 7.2%
NJ 2.4% VA 3.&%
VA 2.3% NJ 3.2%

The table below summarizes the credit ratings ofnmn-Agency RMBS investments at June 30, 2011ewkember 31, 2010. Our
investment guidelines place no restrictions onctieglit ratings of the assets we may acquire onreta addition, the table below includes
AAA rated non-Agency senior securities consolidgiatsuant to the adoption of ASC 810, but for whighhave no continuing involvement.

December 3:

June 30, 201 201C

AAA 14.0%% 14.61%
AA 0.67% 5.34%
A 0.4¢% 0.92%
BBB 0.5%% 0.61%
BB 0.01% 0.01%
B 0.0(% 0.0(%
Below B or not ratel 84.2¢% 78.45%
Total 100.0(% 100.0(%

36




The table above reflects the credit rating of @umsolidated non-Agency RMBS portfolio. At June 3011 approximately 14% of
the AAA, AA, and A securities balance reflectedhe table above include senior, non-retained, ngansy RMBS.

Our management team evaluates each investment basbd characteristics of the underlying colldtesther than relying on the
ratings assigned to the asset by rating agencies.

Results of Operations for the Quarters and Six Mortis Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

For the purpose of computing net interest incontkratios relating to cost of funds measures througthis report, interest expense
includes net interest payments on interest rat@swaresented as Realized gains (losses) on intatesswaps in our Consolidated Statem
of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Losskrést rate swaps are used to hedge the increaserest paid on repurchase
agreements. Presenting the contractual intergstgats on interest rate swaps with the interest paiinterest-bearing liabilities reflects our
total contractual interest payments. This presemalepicts the economic value of our investménattsgy, by showing actual interest
expense and net interest income. Where indicattstest expense including interest payments arést rate swaps, is referred to as
economic interest expense. Where indicated, metdst income including interest payments on iistiera@te swaps, is referred to as economic
net interest income.

Net Income (Loss) Summary

Our net income for the quarter endece Bt 2011 was $117.8 million, or $0.11 per sh@rg.net income was generated primarily by
interest income on our portfolio. Our net incorethe quarter ended June 30, 2010 was $124.6milir $0.16 per share. We attribute the
decrease in our net income per share for the quamtéed June 30, 2011 as compared to June 30,t@@A6 increase in realized losses on
principal write-downs of non-Agency RMBS.

Our net income for the six months ended June 301 2¢as $281.2 million, or $0.27 per share. Ourimame was generated
primarily by interest income on our portfolio. Ouet income for the quarter ended June 30, 20105&38.2 million, or $0.35 per share. We
attribute the decrease in our net income per doatbe six months ended June 30, 2011 as comparéghe 30, 2010 to the decrease in our
interest rate spread and an increase in realizsg$oon principal write-downs of non-Agency RMBS.
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The table below presents the net income (loss) samfor the quarters and six months ended Jun2@L, and 2010.

Net Income (Loss) Summary

(dollars in thousands, except for share and peesteata)

(unaudited)
For the Quarter Ende For the Six Months Ende
June 30, 201 June 30, 201 June 30, 201 June 30, 201

Net Interest Income:
Interest incom: $ 194,23 $ 133,52 $ 400,80¢ 262,50t
Interest expens 7,481 6,49¢ 15,48:¢ 13,87:
Interest income, ne¢-retainec 28,42¢ 49,82¢ 49,58 100,69(
Interest expense, n-retainec 28,31: 21,42: 55,88 55,25!
Net interest income (expens 186,87( 155,43: 379,02¢ 294,07.
Other-than-temporary impairments:
Total othe-thar-temporary impairment loss (1,926 (24,746 (6,137 (47,437
Non-credit portion of loss recognized in other
comprehensive income (los 882 17,85 2,46z 37,99¢
Net othe-thar-temporary credit impairment loss (1,049 (6,899 (3,669 (9,439
Other gains (losses):
Unrealized gains (losses) on interest rate s\ (19,500 (11,237 (9,669 (11,237
Realized gains (losses) on interest rate s\ (4,299 (699 (7,149 (699)

Gains (losses) on interest rate swaj (23,7979 (11,936 (16,817 (11,936
Net gains (losses) on inter-only RMBS (4,442 - (4,442 -
Net gains (losses) on embedded derivatives inga-
only RMBS (2,239 - (2,239 -
Realized gains (losses) on sales of investmentt (380) - 2,36¢ 342
Realized losses on principal write-downs of non-#ge
RMBS (22,040 (326 (41,560 (1,27°%)
Total other gains (losse (52,897 (12,267) (62,685) (12,869
Net investment income (los 132,93: 136,27t 312,67 271,76¢
Other expenses
Management fe 13,152 9,261 25,90: 17,37%
Provision for loan losse - 1,024 1,44% 1,63(
General and administrative expen 1,82( 1,40¢ 3,307 2,56¢
Total other expense 14,97 11,69¢ 30,65! 21,57¢
Income (loss) before income taxe 117,96: 124,58( 282,02: 250,19(
Income taxe: 11€ 1 81¢ 1
Net income (loss $ 117,84: $ 12457¢ $ 281,20! 250,18
Net income (loss) per shi-basic and dilute $ 0.11 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.27 0.3t
Weighted average number of shares outstanding-ba
and dilutec 1,027,130,49 765,475,34 1,027,096,96 718,185,90
Comprehensive income (loss
Net income (loss $ 117,84: $ 12457¢ $ 281,20! 250,18
Other comprehensive income (los
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-gafe securities
net (112,06 (151,529 (292,219 90,057
Reclassification adjustment for net losses includeaukt
income (loss) for other-thatemporary credit impairme
losses 1,044 6,89: 3,66¢ 9,431
Reclassification adjustment for net realized logges
included in net income (los 22,42( 32€ 39,19¢ 938
Other comprehensive income (lo (88,607) (144,305 (249,354 100,42°
Comprehensive income (los $ 29.24( $ (19,726 $ 31,85 350,61¢
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Net Interest Income and Average Earning Asset Yi

We had average earning assets of $12.1 billiors8n@l billion for the quarters ended June 30, 201d. 2010, respectively, and $1.
billion and $7.9 billion for the six months endadé@ 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Our inténestime was $222.7 million and $183.4
million for the quarters ended June 30, 2011 arid2€espectively, and $450.4 million and $363.2iarilfor the six months ended June 30,
2011 and 2010, respectively. Our increase inéstancome resulted from the increase in our istezarning assets which followed our 2010
secondary offerings. The annualized yield on artfplio, after giving effect to credit losses, wa$4% and 8.47% for the quarters ended
June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and 7.0199dr8%o for the six months ended June 30, 2011 848,2espectively. The decrease in
the annualized yield is attributed to a declinev@ighted average coupon on our portfolio and arege in the credit losses recorded on non-
Agency RMBS.

Our economic net interest income, which equalgéstdncome less interest expense and realizeddassinterest rate swaps, tot:
$182.6 million and $154.7 million for the quartersded June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, antl $3Tillion and $293.4 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, resplycter net interest spread, which equals the yagldur average assets for the period
the economic average cost of funds for the perias, 4.20% and 5.54% for the quarters ended Jun203Q, and 2010, respectively, and
4.45% and 5.50% for the six months ended June(@®Il, and 2010, respectively. We attribute the iaseen economic net interest income to
the increase in the amount of interest earningtei$skowing our 2010 secondary offerings. Weihttte the decrease in net interest spread to
the decline in the weighted average yield on tisetsin the portfolio, increased debt issue costrination, and increased economic interest
expense associated with interest rate swaps.

The table below shows our average assets heldljrittgest earned on assets, yield on averageesttearning assets (including the
effect of realized losses on principal write-dowrs)erage debt balance, economic interest expéndading the effect of realized losses on
interest rate swaps), average cost of funds, ecnosh interest income, and net interest rate spf@athe quarters ended June 30, 2011,
March 31, 2011, December 31, 2010, September 3@ a6d June 30, 2010 and the year ended Decempb20 B0

Economic Net Interest Income

Yield on
Average Average Economic Net
Earning Interest Interest Average Interest Average Economic Interest
Assets Helc Earned or  Earning Debt Expense Cost Net Interes Rate
(1) Assets * Assets Balance (2) of Funds Income (2) Spreac

(Ratios have been annualized, dollars in thouse

For the quarter ende:

June 30, 201 $12,078,39 $ 222,66: 6.64% $ 6,560,920 $ 40,09( 244% $ 182,57: 4.2(%
For the quarter ende:

March 31, 201: $11,235,63 $ 227,72 7.41% $ 5,688,31. $ 38,42« 2.7% $ 189,29t 4.71%
For the year ended

December 31,201 $ 8,479,100 $ 755,39¢ 8.91% $ 3,793,04 $ 152,23f 4.01% $ 603,16: 4.9(%
For the quarter ende:

December 31,201 $ 9,311,58: $ 193,74« 8.17% $ 3,871,900 $ 39,64¢ 4.1(% $ 154,09 4.07%
For the quarter ende:

September 30, 201  $ 8,801,53. $ 198,46: 9.02% $ 3,733,89: $ 42,76« 4.58% $ 155,69 4.4%
For the quarter ende:

June 30, 201 $ 8,640,37. $ 183,34¢ 8.47% $ 3,906,06. $ 28,61¢ 2.93% $ 154,73( 5.5%

(1) Excludes cash and cash equivale
(2) Includes effect of realized losses on interat swaps

Interest Expense and the Cost of Funds

We had average borrowed funds of $6.6 billion aB® $illion and total economic interest expenseluding the realized losses on
interest rate swaps, of $40.1 million and $28.8iomilfor the quarters ended June 30, 2011 and 2@sPgectively. We had average borrowed
funds of $6.1 billion and $3.8 billion and totalo@omic interest expense of $78.5 million and $68ifon for the six months ended June 30,
2011 and 2010, respectively. Our annualized cioitrals was 2.44% and 2.93% for the quarters edded 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Our annualized cost of funds was 2.56% and 3.63%h#six months ended June 30, 2011 and 201 indnease in economic interest
expense for the quarter ended June 30, 2011 whapared to the quarter ended June 30, 2010 is dine 2.7 billion increase in the
average borrowed funds during the period.
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The table below shows our average borrowed furadsj@nic interest expense, average cost of fundtu§ive of realized losses on
interest rate swaps), average one-month LIBOR aaeesix-month LIBOR, average one-month LIBOR rekatb average six-month LIBOR,
and average cost of funds relative to average ame-six- month LIBOR for the quarters June 30, 2044rch 31, 2011 December 31, 2010,
September 30, 2010 and June 30, 2010 and the ydad ©®ecember 31, 2010.

Average Cost of Func

Average Average
One- Cost of Average
Month Funds Cost of

LIBOR Relative tc Funds
Average Average Relative tc Average Relative tc

Average Economic  Average One- Six- Average One- Average
Borrowed Interest Cost of Month Month Six-Month Month Six-Month
Funds  Expense (1 Funds LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR

(Ratios have been annualized, dollars in thouse

For the quarter ended

June 30, 201 $6,560,921 $  40,09( 2.4% 0.2(% 0.42% (0.22%) 2.24% 2.02%
For the quarter ended

March 31, 201! $5,688,31. $  38,42: 2.7(% 0.26% 0.4€% (0.2(%) 2.44% 2.24%
For the year ended

December 31, 201 $3,793,04° $ 152,23t 4.01% 0.27% 0.52% (0.25%) 3.74% 3.4%
For the quarter ended

December 31, 201 $3,871,90: $  39,64¢ 4.1(% 0.26% 0.45% (0.1%) 3.84% 3.65%
For the quarter ended

September 30, 201 $3,733,89. $ 42,76« 4.58% 0.29% 0.5% (0.3(%) 4.2%% 3.9%
For the quarter ended

June 30, 201 $3,906,06. $ 28,61¢ 2.92% 0.32% 0.62% (0.31%) 2.61% 2.3(%

(1) Includes effect of realized losses on interatd swaps
Gains and Losses on Sales of Assets

During the quarter ended June 30, 2011, we sold BMizh a carrying value of $16.4 million for reat losses of $380
thousand. We had no sales for the quarter endesl3, 2010. During the six months ended Jun@@D]. and 2010, we sold RMBS with a
carrying value of $666.2 million and $89.6 millitor realized gains of $2.4 million and $342 thoukaespectively.

Secured Debt Financing Transactions
We did not re-securitize RMBS during the quartet aix months ended June 30, 2011.

We sold all of the AAA-rated bonds created in catsecuritizations prior to the quarter ended June€28@], and therefore we did |
record non-recourse financing with third party istees related to re-securitizations executed iargreriods. During the six months ended
June 30, 2011, we financed through these transec#iB06.6 million of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds $siling the bonds to third party
investors for net proceeds of $311.0 million.

On April 30, 2010, we transferred $566.6 millionpinncipal value of our RMBS to the CSMC 2010-11Ri&t in a re-securitization
transaction. This transaction was recorded ageufed borrowing” pursuant to ASC Topics 860 and. 8lh this transaction, we financed
$138.8 million of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds by lsgj the bonds to third party investors for netqeeds of $137.4 million. We have
retained $427.7 million in subordinated bonds d®ddwner trust certificate. The subordinated bardsthe owner trust certificate provide
credit support to the AAA-rated bonds. The borsssied by the trust are collateralized by RMBS wexe transferred to the CSMC 2010R
Trust.
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On May 27, 2010, we transferred $1.2 billion impipal value of our RMBS to the CSMC 2010-12R Tiinsk re-securitization
transaction. This transaction was recorded ageufed borrowing” pursuant to ASC Topics 860 and. 8lh this transaction, we financed
$294.0 million of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds by lsgj the bonds to third party investors for netqaeds of $294.3 million. We have
retained $136.3 million of AAAated bonds, $788.2 million in subordinated bonustae owner trust certificate. The subordinatedds an
the owner trust certificate provide credit supgorthe AAA-rated bonds. The bonds issued by thsttare collateralized by RMBS that were
transferred to the CSMC 2010-12R Trust.

In addition, during the quarter ended June 30, 2@&0financed through these transactions $195.llomibf AAA-rated fixed rate
bonds by selling the bonds to third party invesforset proceeds of $197.4 million. In total, vireainced through these transactions,
including the newly re-securitized assets, $627lBam of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds for net proateof $629.2 million during the quarter
ended June 30, 2010.

Management Fee and General and Administrative Exges

We paid FIDAC a management fee of $13.2 million & million for the quarters ended June 30, 281d 2010, respectively, and
$25.9 million and $17.4 million for the six montesded June 2011 and 2010, respectively. The maragdee is based on our stockholders’
equity and the increase in the management fedéogaarter and six months ended June 30, 2011nasazed to the quarter and six months
ended June 30, 2010 resulted from the increasatyafye to the completion of secondary offeringg@inmon stock during 2010.

General and administrative (or G&A) expenses, idiclg the provision for loan losses, were $1.8 wrilland $2.4 million for the
quarters ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectarady$4.7 million and $4.2 million for the six nibs ended June 30, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. G&A expenses decreased due to niti@al loan loss provision being recorded.

Total expenses as a percentage of average totdbassre 0.59% and 0.72% for the quarters endesl 3un2011 and 2010,
respectively, and 0.68% and 0.75% for the six mestided June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.débease in total expenses as a
percentage of average total assets is the resatt ofcrease in the asset base due to the completsecondary offerings of common stock
during 2010.

During the quarters ended June 30, 2011 and 20I@iwdursed FIDAC approximately $170,000 and $1@8,0espectively for our
pro rata portion of rent, telephone, utilities,igéffurniture, equipment, machinery and other effioternal and overhead expenses of FIDAC
and its affiliates required for our operations. ingrthe six months ended June 30, 2011 and 201@wwdbursed FIDAC approximately
$316,000 and $148,000 respectively for our pro patéion of rent, telephone, utilities, office fiture, equipment, machinery and other
office, internal and overhead expenses of FIDAC igndffiliates required for our operations.

The table below shows our total management feeGRW expenses as compared to average total assé@vanage equity for the
quarters ended June 30, 2011, March 31, 2011, DeseBi, 2010, September 30, 2010 June 30, 201€patite year ended December 31,
2010.

Management Fees, Loan Loss Provision and G&A Exgeand Operating Expense Ra

Total
Management
Total Total Management  Fee, Loan Loss
Management Fee, Loan Loss Provision and
Fee, Loan Loss Provision and G&A G&A
Provision and Expenses/Total Expenses/Averay
G&A Expense: Assets Equity
(Ratios have been annualized, dollars in thouse
For the quarter ended June 30, 2 $ 14,97: 0.55% 1.72%
For the quarter ended March 31, 2( $ 15,67¢ 0.68% 1.74%
For the year ended December 31, 2 $ 49,62¢ 0.78% 1.71%
For the quarter ended December 31, 2 $ 14,45¢ 0.7¢% 1.7¢%
For the quarter ended September 30, - $ 13,59¢ 0.771% 1.87%
For the quarter ended June 30, 2 $ 11,69¢ 0.72% 1.8(%
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Net Income (Loss) and Return on Average Equity

Our net income was $117.8 million and $124.6 millfor the quarters ended June 30, 2011 and 204fecévely, and $281.2
million and $250.2 million for the six months endadhe 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The taddi@v shows our economic net interest
income, gains (losses) on sale of assets, unrdajams (losses) on interest rate swaps, totalresgse income tax, each as a percentage of
average equity, and the return on average equitthéoquarters ended June 30, 2011, March 31, ZBddember 31, 2010, September 30,
2010 and June 30, 2010 and the year ended Dec&hp2010. Our return on average equity decreased £9.14% for the quarter ended
June 30, 2010 to 13.50% for the quarter ended 30n2011 and from 19.86% for the six months endee B0, 2010 to 15.79% for the six
months ended June 30, 2011 due to the increasaliaed losses on principal write-downs, increaSé&d\ expenses and a decrease in the
yield on our asset

Components of Return on Average Equity

Realized Realized and
Gains unrealized
(Losses) on  Gains (Losses
Sales, Credit on Interest Total
Net Interest Losses and Rate Expenses/ Income Return on
Income/Averag OTTI/Average Swaps/Averac Average Tax/Averag: Average
Equity * Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity
(Ratios have been annualize
For the quarter ended June 30, 2 21.41% (2.6%%) (3.4%) (1.72%) (0.01%) 13.5(%
For the quarter ended March 31, 2( 20.96% (2.15%) 1.1(% (1.74%) (0.08%) 18.0%
For the year ended December 31, 2 20.71% (0.34%) (0.34%) (1.71%) (0.03%) 18.3t%
For the quarter ended December 31
2010 18.72% 0.22% 1.8(% (1.7€%) 0.0(% 18.98%
For the quarter ended September 3|
2010 21.42% (0.1<%) (1.87%) (1.87%) (0.1(%) 17.3%
For the quarter ended June 30, 2 23.7¢% (1.11%) (1.73%) (1.8(%) 0.0(% 19.14%

* Includes the effect of realized losses on interate
swaps

Liquidity and Capital Resources
General

Liquidity measures our ability to meet cash requeeats, including ongoing commitments to repay aurdwings, fund and mainte
RMBS, mortgage loans and other assets, pay dividand other general business needs. Our prireijpates of capital and funds for
additional investments primarily include earningsf our investments, borrowings under securitizetiand re-securitizations, repurchase
agreements and other financing facilities, and @eds from equity offerings.

To meet our short term (one year or less) liquiditgds, we expect to continue to borrow fundsénftinm of repurchase agreements
and, subject to market conditions, other typesrafrfcing. The terms of the repurchase transattiwrowings under our master repurchase
agreements generally conform to the terms in thedstrd master repurchase agreement as publishbe Becurities Industry and Financial
Markets Association, or SIFMA, as to repayment,girarequirements and the segregation of all séeante have initially sold under the
repurchase transaction. In addition, each lengwcally requires that we include supplemental teand conditions to the standard master
repurchase agreement. Typical supplemental tenth€anditions include changes to the margin maartea requirements, required haircuts,
and purchase price maintenance requirements, eggeits that all controversies related to the rdyase agreement be litigated in a partic
jurisdiction and cross default provisions. Theszvisions will differ for each of our lenders andlwot be determined until we engage i
specific repurchase transaction.

We also expect to meet our short term liquiditydsely relying on the cash flows generated by ouestments. These cash flows
are primarily comprised of monthly principal andeirest payments received on our investments. Weatsa sell our investments and utilize
those proceeds to meet our short term liquiditydse® enter into non-recourse financing of our @seough sales of securities to third
parties of re-securitization transactions that weehcompleted in prior periods.
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Based on our current portfolio, leverage ratio andilable borrowing arrangements, we believe osetsswill be sufficient to enable
us to meet anticipated short-term liquidity reqoiemts. However, a decline in the value of ouratetal could cause a temporary liquidity
shortfall due to the timing of the necessary maggilts on the financing arrangements and the actaealipt of the cash related to principal
paydowns. If our cash resources are at any timgfiogent to satisfy our liquidity requirements, weay have to sell investments, potentially
at a loss, or issue debt or additional equity déesrin a common stock offering.

To meet our longer term liquidity needs (greatantbne year), we expect our principal sources pitalzand funds to continue to be
provided by earnings from our investments, borr@sinnder securitizations and re-securitizatior@nehase agreements and other financing
facilities, and proceeds from equity offerings. aliidition, we may reenter into warehouse faciljtiesse commercial paper, term financing
CDOs, and longer dated structured repurchase agrégemThe use of these sources of capital andsfuiildepend on market conditions,
availability of these facilities, and the investrhepportunities available to us.

Current Period

We held cash and cash equivalents of approxim&tyl million and $236.2 million at June 30, 2008 2010, respectively. Our
cash and cash equivalents decreased relative thuttee31, 2010 balance due to the timing of theipeéof proceeds from our secondary
offerings of common stock completed on June 280201

Our operating activities provided net cash of appnately $216.5 million and $152.8 million for the& months ended June 30, 2(
and 2010, respectively. The cash provided by diperactivities increased due to the increase trinterest income earned by the portfolio
which resulted from the increase in interest eaymaissets to $10.0 billion in investments at June2B@1 as compared to $6.6 billion at June
30, 2010. In addition, the effect of the non-caspense of realized losses on principal write-doiwoseased from $1.3 million for the six
months ending June 30, 2010 as compared to $41li6mfor the six months ended June 30, 2011.

Our investing activities used net cash of $2.3dsilland $693.6 million for the six months endedel@0, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. During the six months ended June2B8@1 we utilized cash to purchase $3.7 billiosegurities which were offset by proceeds
from asset sales of $668.5 million and principalaggments of $677.8 million. During the six mon#meled June 30, 2010 we utilized cash to
purchase $1.5 billion in securities which were effisy proceeds from asset sales that provided $88li&n and principal repayments of
$719.1 million. The increase in cash used for sting activities is the result of increasing lexggran the Agency RMBS portfolio.

Our financing activities provided net cash of $2ilion and $752.8 million for the six months endiehe 30, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The six months ended June 30, 2€fldcted net proceeds on repurchase agreemengssobilion as compared to net cash
provided by repurchase agreements of $637.6 mifbothe six months ended June 30, 2010. In amdithe six months ended June 30, 2011
reflected net proceeds from securitized debt bamgsvof $311.0 million as compared to $1.1 billfon the six months ended June 30,

2010. In contrast, the six months ended Jun@@00 reflected $767.7 million in proceeds from ¢benpletion secondary offerings of
common stock whereby the six months ended Jun2@d, did not have secondary offerings of commoaokstd he increase in cash provided
by financing activities is primarily provided byetluse of repurchase agreements to finance assétgses. Recourse leverage increased to
1.3:1 at June 30, 2011 as compared to 0.5:1 at3Iwr&010 reflective of the increase in finance&hgy RMBS.

We expect to continue to finance our activitiegimanner that is consistent with our current oparatlargely via repurchase
agreements. During the six months ended June(3a,, 2ve received $677.8 million from principal rgpeents and used leverage on our
Agency RMBS which provided approximately $2.5 bitliin cash. In addition, we may from time to tisg#l securities as a source of cash to
fund new purchases.
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At June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the renmamaturities of repurchase agreements for RMBfdsented below.

December 3:
June 30, 201 201(
(dollars in thousand:

Overnight $ 338,10 $ -
1-30 days 1,752,94. 232,26!
30 to 59 day: 1,541,04 970,39:
60 to 89 day: 73,41: 545,44,
90 to 119 day - 60,69¢
Greater than or equal to 120 d: 614,98 -
Total $ 4,320,48 $ 1,808,79

We collateralize the repurchase agreements weou@@ance our operations with RMBS. Our countetipamegotiate a ‘haircut’
when we enter into a financing transaction, whiahyMfrom lender to lender. A haircut is a percgetthat is subtracted from the par value of
RMBS that collateralizes the financing. The sizéhaf haircut reflects the perceived risk associatigidl holding the RMBS by the lender. T
haircut provides lenders with a cushion for dailgrket value movements that reduce the need forrgimeall to be issued or margin to be
returned as normal daily increases or decreaseMIAS values occur. Despite the haircut, repurclagseements subject us to two types of
margin calls. First, there are monthly margin ctilst are triggered as principal payments and psaragnts are received by us as these
payments lower the value of the collateral. Assult, we expect to receive margin calls from @purchase counterparties monthly simply
due to the release of updated factors from theetegsof the trusts which issued the RMBS we owe. Mibnthly principal payments and pre-
payments are not known in advance and vary depgradithe behavior of the borrowers of the mortgagekerlying the trusts. Second,
counterparties make margin calls or return margia eesult of normal daily increases or decreasasset values. Each counterparty may
calculate or manage these margin calls differemladdition, when financing assets using stanétama of Securities Industry and Financial
Markets Association Master Repurchase Agreememds;aunterparty to the agreement typically netexfssure to us on all outstanding
repurchase agreements and issues margin callsviémment of the asset values in aggregate exceeidsltlosvable exposure to us. A decline
in asset values could create a margin call, or cnegte no margin call depending on the counterjzaspecific policy. In addition
counterparties consider a number of factors, innlytheir aggregate exposure to us as a wholelendumber of days remaining before the
repurchase transaction closes prior to issuing rgimaall.

The table below presents our average repurchaaadstiuring the period and repurchase balancehtmsaiod end. Our balance at
period end tends to have little fluctuation frore tiverage balances except in periods where waemeasing the size of our portfolio using
leverage. For example, subsequent to our corplefia secondary offering of common stock durlmg fourth quarter of 2010 our quarter
end repurchase balance increased compared to etagevrepurchase balance.

Average Repurchase

Repurchase Balance at

Period Balance Quarter Enc

(dollars in thousand:

Quarter Ended June 30, 20 $ 4,308,78 $ 4,320,48
Quarter Ended March 31, 20 3,385,15! 3,870,40
Year Ended December 31, 20 1,525,28! 1,808,79
Quarter Ended December 31, 2( 1,575,91 1,808,79
Quarter Ended September 30, 2! 1,272,01 1,568,22.
Quarter Ended June 30, 20 1,415,43. 1,337,80!

We are not required to maintain any specific debtguity ratio as we believe the appropriate levefagéhe particular assets we
financing depends on the credit quality and riskhoke assets. At June 30, 2011 and Decembef3Q,dur total debt was approximately
$6.5 billion and $4.1 billion, which representedebt-to-equity ratio of approximately 1.9:1 and:1,Xespectively. We include repurchase
agreements, securitized debt, and securitized dehtretained in the numerator of our debt-to-gqudtio and stockholders’ equity as the
denominator.
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Stockholders’ Equity

On January 28, 2011, we entered into an equityiloigton agreement with FIDAC and UBS Securitiedd,lor UBS. Through this
agreement, we may sell through UBS, as our salestagp to 125,000,000 shares of our common stookdinary brokers’ transactions at
market prices or other transactions as agreed ketwe and UBS. We did not sell any shares of ommeon stock under the equity
distribution agreement during the quarter ende@ 3 2011.

On September 24, 2009, we implemented a divideindestment and share purchase plan, or DRSPP DRI&PP provides holders
of record of our common stock an opportunity tcoaudtically reinvest all or a portion of their cadibtributions received on common stock in
additional shares of our common stock as well asdke optional cash payments to purchase shamg @bmmon stock. Persons who are
not already stockholders may also purchase our ammstock under the plan through optional cash paysnerhe DRSPP is administered by
the Administrator, The Bank of New York Mellon. Dag the six months ended June 30, 2011 we raiséd $®usand by issuing 134,538
shares through the DRSPP. During the six monthecddne 30, 2010, we raised $122 thousand by 82138 shares through the DRS

During the quarter ended June 30, 2011 we dectiivédends to common shareholders totaling $133Mamior $0.13 per
share. During the quarter ended June 30, 201@estkared dividends to common shareholders totdlir®p.4 million or $0.17 per share.

During the six months ended June 30, 2011 we datldividends to common shareholders totaling $2iifllion or $0.27 per
share. During the six months ended June 30, 20&@leclared dividends to common shareholders bgt&i244.2 million or $0.34 per share.

On March 31, 2010, we announced the sale of 88)000shares of common stock at a price of $3.6klpare in a public
offering. In addition, the underwriters exercigld option to purchase an additional 12,750,00@eshaf common stock to cover
overallotments. The aggregate net proceeds wéveztbefore expenses in this sale were approxim&®52.7 million. This sale was
completed on April 7, 2010.

On June 22, 2010, we announced the sale of 100008hares of common stock at a price of $3.6Elpare in a public offering. |
addition, the underwriters exercised the optiopumchase an additional 15,000,000 shares of constomhk to cover overallotments. The
aggregate net proceeds we received before expentgs sale were approximately $415.0 million. iSTeale was completed on June 28,
2010.

There was no preferred stock issued or outstarangf June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010.
Related Party Transactions
Management Agreement

On November 15, 2007 we entered into a managengea¢ment with FIDAC, pursuant to which FIDAC isidat to receive a
management fee and, in certain circumstancespartation fee and reimbursement of certain expeasatescribed in the management
agreement. Such fees and expenses do not hadeafixkdeterminable payments. The management fegéble quarterly in arrears in an
amount equal to 1.50% per annum, calculated guwrtdrour stockholders’ equity (as defined in thanagement agreement). FIDAC uses
the proceeds from its management fee in part tacpaypensation to its officers and employees whtwitlosstanding that certain of them also
are our officers, receive no cash compensatiorciljrérom us.

Clearing Fees

On March 1, 2011, we entered into an administrasm@ices agreement with RCap Securities, IndR@ap. We use RCap, a SEC
registered broker-dealer and a wholly-owned subsjddf Annaly, to clear trades for us and RCapaisl gustomary market-based fees and
charges in return for such services.

Financing Arrangements with Affiliates

In April 2009, we entered into a Securities Indystnd Financial Markets Association standard prepd form Master Repurchase
Agreement with RCap Securities, Inc., a wholly od/sebsidiary of Annaly. This standard agreemeetsdwt contain any sort of liquidity,
net worth or other similar types of positive or athige covenants. Rather, the agreement contairenamts that require the buyer and selle
securities to deliver collateral or securities, amdilar covenants which are customary in masteumehase agreements. At June 30, 2011 anc
December 31, 2010 we had no financing under thiseagent. We have been in compliance with all caménof this agreement since we
entered into this agreement.
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In March 2008, we entered into a Securities Ingquatrd Financial Markets Association standard preed form Master Repurchase
Agreement with Annaly. This standard agreemensaduma contain any sort of liquidity, net worth dher similar types of positive or negat
covenants. Rather, the agreement contains cowetiamitrequire the buyer and seller of securitiedediver collateral or securities, and sim
covenants which are customary in master repurchgi@ements. At June 30, 2011 and December 31,201&d no financing under this
agreement. We have been in compliance with akkoawts of this agreement since we entered intagrsement.

Restricted Stock Grants

We granted 1,301,000 shares of restricted smckit Manager's employees and members of our bafaditectors during the year ended
December 31, 2008. During the quarters ended 30n2011 and 2010, 31,600 and 33,725 shares oictedtstock we had awarded to our
Managers employees vested and 938 and 2,112 shares wgitefd or cancelled, respectively. We did notngrany incentive awards durit
the six months ended June 30, 2011. At June 30, 2A8d 2010 there were approximately 822,000 aBgD96 unvested shares of restricted
stock issued to employees of FIDAC, respectivélgr the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 20hfpensation expense less general and
administrative costs associated with the amortimatif the fair value of the restricted stock toda#249,000 and $251,000, respectively.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following tables summarize our contractual gégiions at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010.

June 30, 201

Greater Thal
Within One  Oneto Three Three to Five  or Equal to

Contractual Obligation Year Years Years Five Years Total
(dollars in thousand:

Repurchase agreements for RM $ 4,320,48 $ - % - $ - $ 432048

Securitized dek 569,62( 743,04t 338,62t 464,97. 2,116,26.

Interest expense on RMBS repurchase agreemer 2,33¢ - - - 2,33%

Interest expense on securitized debi 92,36( 115,47. 80,99: 24.3,00( 531,82

Total $ 4,984,80, $ 858,51¢ $ 419,61¢ $ 707,97. $ 6,970,91

(1) Interest is based on variable rates in effsaifalune 30, 201.

December 31, 201

Greater Thal
Within One  Oneto Three Three to Five  or Equal to

Contractual Obligation Year Years Years Five Years Total
(dollars in thousand:

Repurchase agreements for RM $ 1,808,79 $ - % - $ - $ 1,808,79

Securitized dek 634,98t 831,30! 305,95! 417,97t 2,190,22

Interest expense on RMBS repurchase agreemer 1,22: - - - 1,22z

Interest expense on securitized debt 86,45: 113,63! 68,33t 171,04. 439,46!

Total $ 253146 $ 944,94( $ 374,28t $ 589,01 $ 4,439,70

(1) Interest is based on variable rates in effsaifdDecember 31, 201
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidi@tetities or financial partnerships, such as iestivften referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, which wouldehlaeen established for the purpose of facilitatifipalance sheet arrangements or other

contractually narrow or limited purposes. Furtlveg,have not guaranteed any obligations of uncaeteld entities nor do we have any
commitment or intent to provide funding to any sedctities.
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Capital Resources
At June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, we hadaterial commitments or capital expenditures.
Dividends

To qualify as a REIT, we must pay annual dividetedsur stockholders of at least 90% of our taxamteme, determined without
regard to the deduction for dividends paid andudiclg any net capital gains. We intend to pay ragguarterly dividends to our
stockholders. Before we pay any dividend, whetbet£.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwisgchvwould only be paid out of
available cash to the extent permitted under marfting facilities, we must first meet any opemtiaquirements and scheduled debt service
on our financing facilities and other debt payable.

Inflation

Virtually all of our assets and liabilities aredngst rate sensitive in nature. As a result, isteres and other factors influence our
performance far more so than does inflation. Chamgé@nterest rates do not necessarily correlati inflation rates or changes in inflation
rates. Our consolidated financial statements apagved in accordance with GAAP and our distributioill be determined by our board of
directors consistent with our obligation to distitié to our stockholders at least 90% of our REKRlde income on an annual basis in order to
maintain our REIT qualification; in each case, adtivities and balance sheet are measured withergfe to historical cost and/or fair market
value without considering inflation.
Subsequent Events

None.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The primary components of our market risk are eeldb credit risk, interest rate risk, prepaymésk, market value risk and real
estate risk. While we do not seek to avoid risk plately, we believe the risk can be quantified froistorical experience and we seek to
actively manage that risk, to earn sufficient congagion to justify taking those risks and to mamwapital levels consistent with the risks
undertake.

Credit Risk

We are subject to credit risk in connection with mvestments and face more credit risk on assetswn which are rated below
“AAA”. The credit risk related to these investmismpertains to the ability and willingness of trerowers to pay, which is assessed before
credit is granted or renewed and periodically neneig throughout the loan or security term. We belithat residual loan credit quality is
primarily determined by the borrowers’ credit ptedi and loan characteristics. FIDAC uses a compisahe credit review process. FIDAC's
analysis of loans includes borrower profiles, a#i a®valuation and appraisal data. FIDAC uses amagating factors such as liquid assets,
low loan to value ratios and job stability in evating loans. FIDAGS resources include a proprietary portfolio manag@mystem, as well
third party software systems. FIDAC utilizes adhparty due diligence firm to perform an independerderwriting review to insure
compliance with existing guidelines. FIDAC selecians for review predicated on risk-based critetieh as loan-to-value, borrower’s credit
score(s) and loan size. FIDAC also outsources wwritarg services to review higher risk loans, eitdee to borrower credit profiles or
collateral valuation issues. In addition to statetsampling techniques, FIDAC creates adverseéittamd valuation samples, which we
individually review. FIDAC rejects loans that f&il conform to our standards. FIDAC accepts onlyéhlmans which meet our underwriting
criteria. Once we own a loan, FIDAC's surveillamrecess includes ongoing analysis through our jEtgry data warehouse and servicer
files. Additionally, the non-Agency RMBS and othABS which we acquire for our portfolio are reviewsdFIDAC to ensure that they
satisfy our risk based criteria. FIDAC’s reviewran-Agency RMBS and other ABS includes utilizing iroprietary portfolio management
system. FIDAC's review of non-Agency RMBS and otA®S is based on quantitative and qualitative asialgf the risk-adjusted returns on
non-Agency RMBS and other ABS present.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is highly sensitive to many @ast including governmental, monetary and tax pedicdomestic and international
economic and political considerations and othetofacbeyond our control. We are subject to interast risk in connection with our
investments and our related debt obligations, whiehgenerally repurchase agreements, warehousefscsecuritization, commercial paf
and term financing CDOs. Our repurchase agreenagntsvarehouse facilities may be of limited duratioat are periodically refinanced at
current market rates. We intend to mitigate thék through utilization of derivative contracts,marily interest rate swap agreements.

Interest Rate Effect on Net Interest Income

Our operating results depend, in large part, ofedihces between the income from our investmerdanborrowing costs. Most of
our warehouse facilities and repurchase agreenpeotde financing based on a floating rate of iegticalculated on a fixed spread over
LIBOR. The fixed spread varies depending on the typunderlying asset which collateralizes therfitiag. Accordingly, the portion of our
portfolio which consists of floating interest ragsets will be match-funded utilizing our expecedrces of short-term financing, while our
fixed interest rate assets will not be match-fund@ating periods of rising interest rates, the baiing costs associated with our investments
tend to increase while the income earned on oedfirterest rate investments may remain substhntiathanged. This will result in a
narrowing of the net interest spread between tlatee assets and borrowings and may even resiaisses. Further, during this portion of the
interest rate and credit cycles, defaults couldease and result in credit losses to us, whichdcadlersely affect our liquidity and operating
results. Such delinquencies or defaults could ladés@ an adverse effect on the spread betweenstiggiening assets and interest-bearing
liabilities. Hedging techniques are partly basedssumed levels of prepayments of our fixed-ratehaorid adjustable-rate mortgage loans
and RMBS. If prepayments are slower or faster tmsumed, the life of the mortgage loans and RMBSowilonger or shorter, which would
reduce the effectiveness of any hedging strategéesiay use and may cause losses on such trangadiiedging strategies involving the use
of derivative securities are highly complex and rpayduce volatile returns.
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Interest Rate Effects on Fair Value

Another component of interest rate risk is thea@fthanges in interest rates will have on thevalue of the assets we acquire. We
face the risk that the fair value of our asset$ iwdrease or decrease at different rates thanothadrr liabilities, including our hedging
instruments. We primarily assess our interestrniakeby estimating the duration of our assets &edduration of our liabilities. Duration
essentially measures the market price volatilitfircdncial instruments as interest rates changeg®verally calculate duration using various
financial models and empirical data. Different misdind methodologies can produce different duratiembers for the same securities.

It is important to note that the impact of changimigrest rates on fair value can change signifigamhen interest rates change
beyond 100 basis points from current levels. Thoeegfthe volatility in the fair value of our assetaild increase significantly when interest
rates change beyond 100 basis points. In addibibrer factors impact the fair value of our intemage-sensitive investments and hedging
instruments, such as the shape of the yield cuneeket expectations as to future interest rate gdsiand other market conditions.
Accordingly, in the event of changes in actualriiest rates, the change in the fair value of ouetassould likely differ from that shown abc
and such difference might be material and adverseit stockholders.

Interest Rate Cap Risk

We also invest in adjustable-rate mortgage loadsRMBS. These are mortgages or RMBS in which thdetging mortgages are
typically subject to periodic and lifetime intereate caps and floors, which limit the amount bycltthe security’s interest yield may change
during any given period. However, our borrowingtsgsursuant to our financing agreements will nostgject to similar restrictions.
Therefore, in a period of increasing interest ratgerest rate costs on our borrowings could iaseawithout limitation by caps, while the
interest-rate yields on our adjustalpégée mortgage loans and RMBS would effectivelyitvetéd. This problem will be magnified to the ext:
we acquire adjustable-rate RMBS that are not basedortgages which are fully indexed. In additittvg mortgages or the underlying
mortgages in an RMBS may be subject to periodiemayt caps that result in some portion of the isteloeing deferred and added to the
principal outstanding. This could result in ouragt of less cash income on our adjustable-ratégages or RMBS than we need in order to
pay the interest cost on our related borrowinggseéhfactors could lower our net interest incomeamise a net loss during periods of rising
interest rates, which would harm our financial déind, cash flows and results of operations.

Interest Rate Mismatch Risk

We fund a substantial portion of our acquisitiohtybrid adjustable-rate mortgages and RMBS witirdwings that, after the effect
of hedging, have interest rates based on indicéseypricing terms similar to, but of somewhat shortetumities than, the interest rate indi
and re-pricing terms of the mortgages and RMBS sThumost cases the interest rate indices andieagp terms of our mortgage assets and
our funding sources will not be identical, theregating an interest rate mismatch between assdtlabilities. Therefore, our cost of funds
would likely rise or fall more quickly than wouldipearnings rate on assets. During periods of dhgrigterest rates, such interest rate
mismatches could negatively impact our financialdition, cash flows and results of operations. Titigate interest rate mismatches, we r
utilize the hedging strategies discussed above aDalysis of risks is based on FIDA®xperience, estimates, models and assumptiopse
analyses rely on models which utilize estimatefainfvalue and interest rate sensitivity. Actuabeemic conditions or implementation of
investment decisions by our management may prodastats that differ significantly from the estimat@nd assumptions used in our models
and the projected results shown in this Form 10-Q.

Our profitability and the value of our portfolion@luding interest rate swaps) may be adverselygtteduring any period as a result
of changing interest rates. The following tablafifies the potential changes in net interestime@nd portfolio value should interest rates
go up or down 25, 50, and 75 basis points, assuthmgield curves of the rate shocks will be patdth each other and the current yield
curve. All changes in income and value are measaseercentage changes from the projected ne¢shi@come and portfolio value at the
base interest rate scenario. The base interesscahario assumes interest rates at June 30 aR@Marious estimates regarding prepayment
and all activities are made at each level of ratiek. Actual results could differ significantlyofn these estimates.
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June 30, 201

Projected Percentage Projected Percentage

Change in Net Intere Change in

Change in Interest Ra Income Portfolio Value

-75 Basis Point (9.1(%) 4.7¢%
-50 Basis Point (7.08%) 3.21%
-25 Basis Point (5.0%%) 1.62%
Base Interest Ra - -
+25 Basis Point 0.84% (1.6€%)
+50 Basis Point 1.07% (3.3%%)
+75 Basis Point 1.31% (5.08%)

Prepayment Risk

As we receive prepayments of principal on thesestments, premiums and discounts on such invessmeéihte amortized or
accreted against interest income. In general, ere@se in prepayment rates will accelerate the @ation of purchase premiums, thereby
reducing the interest income earned on the invegBn€onversely, discounts on such investmenta@reeted into interest income. In
general, an increase in prepayment rates will acatd the accretion of purchase discounts, thaérelbgasing the interest income earned on
the investments. Decreases in prepayment rategeviktrally have the effect of reducing the amatitizeof premiums and discounts, thereby
resulting in an increase and reduction of inteiregime, respectively.

Extension Risk

FIDAC computes the projected weighted-averagedlifeur investments based on assumptions regardengate at which the
borrowers will prepay the underlying mortgagesgémeral, when fixed-rate or hybrid adjustable-ratetgage loans or RMBS are acquired
with borrowings, we may, but are not required tdeeinto an interest rate swap agreement or ¢tbeging instrument that effectively fixes
our borrowing costs for a period close to the andited average life of the fixed-rate portion of tielated assets. This strategy is designed to
protect us from rising interest rates because thmotving costs are fixed for the duration of theefi-rate portion of the related
assets. However, if prepayment rates decreasesimg interest rate environment, the life of theed-rate portion of the related assets could
extend beyond the term of the swap agreement er bddging instrument. This could have a negatiygaict on our results from operations,
as borrowing costs would no longer be fixed afterénd of the hedging instrument while the incoaraed on the hybrid adjustable-rate
assets would remain fixed. This situation may alsese the market value of our hybrid adjustable-aasets to decline, with little or no
offsetting gain from the related hedging transargidn extreme situations, we may be forced toasséets to maintain adequate liquidity,
which could cause us to incur losses.

Market Risk
Market Value Risk

Our available-for-sale securities are reflectethair estimated fair value with unrealized gaind &sses excluded from earnings and
reported in other comprehensive income. The estidhair value of these securities fluctuates prilpaue to changes in interest rates,
prepayment speeds, market liquidity, credit quahtyd other factors. Generally, in a rising intérate environment, the estimated fair value
of these securities would be expected to decreaswersely, in a decreasing interest rate environtiee estimated fair value of these
securities would be expected to increase. As maKatility increases or liquidity decreases, faie value of our investments may be
adversely impacted.

Real Estate Market Risk

We own assets secured by real property and mayreahproperty directly in the future. Residenpabperty values are subject to
volatility and may be affected adversely by a numdfdactors, including, but not limited to, natanregional and local economic conditions
(which may be adversely affected by industry slowds and other factors); local real estate conditi@ch as an oversupply of housing);
changes or continued weakness in specific indisgtgynents; construction quality, age and designpdeaphic factors; and retroactive
changes to building or similar codes. In additidecreases in property values reduce the valuesafdltateral and the potential proceeds
available to a borrower to repay our loans, whiohl@ also cause us to suffer losses.
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Risk Management

To the extent consistent with maintaining our REfatus, we seek to manage risk exposure to protegiortfolio of residential
mortgage loans, RMBS, and other assets and redafetdagainst the effects of major interest ratengha. We generally seek to manage our
risk by:

« monitoring and adjusting, if necessary, the rasgex and interest rate related to our RMBS andinancings;

« attempting to structure our financing agreementsate a range of different maturities, terms, aiatipns and interest rate
adjustment period:

« using derivatives, financial futures, swaps, ogiaaps, floors and forward sales to adjust therédst rate sensitivity of our
investments and our borrowing

« using securitization financing to lower averaget @igunds relative to shoterm financing vehicles further allowing us to rieeethe
benefit of attractive terms for an extended pedbtime in contrast to short term financing and unigy dates of the investments
included in the securitization; al

« actively managing, on an aggregate basis, theestteate indices, interest rate adjustment perais,gross reset margins of our
investments and the interest rate indices and ex@rg periods of our financing

Our efforts to manage our assets afnilitias are concerned with the timing and magrétod the re-pricing of assets and
liabilities. We attempt to control risks assocthteéith interest rate movements. Methods for euviigainterest rate risk include an analysis of
our interest rate sensitivity “gap”, which is thée&rence between interest-earning assets ancesttdearing liabilities maturing or re-pricing
within a given time period. A gap is considereaipee when the amount of interest-rate sensitsgets exceeds the amount of interest-rate
sensitive liabilities. A gap is considered negativhen the amount of interest-rate sensitive liddsl exceeds interest-rate sensitive
assets. During a period of rising interest radesegative gap would tend to adversely affectmetrést income, while a positive gap would
tend to result in an increase in net interest ireomuring a period of falling interest rates, gative gap would tend to result in an increas
net interest income, while a positive gap woulditemaffect net interest income adversely. Becdiféerent types of assets and liabilities
with the same or similar maturities may react défely to changes in overall market rates or cao$, changes in interest rates may affect
net interest income positively or negatively eviean institution were perfectly matched in eachumiat category.

The following table sets forth the estimated ma&yuoi re-pricing of our interest-earning assets iaerest-bearing liabilities at June
30, 2011. The amounts of assets and liabilitiesvehwithin a particular period were determined ée@dance with the contractual terms of
the assets and liabilities, except adjustablelcates, and securities are included in the periodhiich their interest rates are first scheduled to
adjust and not in the period in which they maturé does include the effect of the interest ratepswa he interest rate sensitivity of our
assets and liabilities in the table could vary satgally if based on actual prepayment experience.
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June 30, 201

Within 3 1Yearto3 Greater than

Months 3-12 Months Years 3 Years Total
Rate sensitive asse $ 13,260,422 $ 1,647,110 $ 2,282,71' $ 1,81551' $ 19,005,76
Cash equivalent 16,08( - - - 16,08(
Total rate sensitive asse¢ 13,276,50 1,647,111 2,282,71! 1,815,51! 19,021,84
Rate sensitive liabilitie 2,973,10! 861,64¢ 321,19 1,420,48! 5,576,43;

Interest rate sensitivity ge $ 10,30339 ¢ 78546. $ 1,961,520 $  395,03¢ $ 13,445/41

Cumulative rate sensitivity ge $ 10,303,39 $ 11,088,85 $ 13,050,37 $ 13,44541

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap ¢
percentage of total rate sensitive as 54% 58% 69% 71%

Our analysis of risks is based on our manager'sgapce, estimates, models and assumptions. HEmedgses rely on models which
utilize estimates of fair value and interest raesitivity. Actual economic conditions or implent&ton of investment decisions by our
manager may produce results that differ signifilgainbm the estimates and assumptions used in @aets and the projected results show
the above tables and in this Form 10-Q. Theseyaeslcontain certain forward-looking statementsaredsubject to the safe harbor statement
set forth under the heading, “Special Note Regaréiorward-Looking Statements.”
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our management, including our Chief Executive G@ifjor CEO and Chief Financial Officer, or CFO,iesved and evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of oseldsure controls and procedures (as defined ie B8&-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the
Securities Exchange Act) as of the end of the pesavered by this quarterly report. Based on téeiew and evaluation, the CEO and CFO
have concluded that our current disclosure conamtsprocedures, as designed and operating, (¥) effactive in ensuring that information
regarding the Company and its subsidiaries is rkade/n to our management, including our CEO and CiCappropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure and (2gvedfiective in providing reasonable assuranceittiatmation the Company must disclos:
its periodic reports under the Securities Exchaketas recorded, processed, summarized and repuiitath the time periods prescribed by
the SEC’s rules and forms.

There have been no changes in our “internal cooirer financial reporting” (as defined in Rule 1Ba() under the Securities

Exchange Act) that occurred during the period cestdyy this quarterly report that has materiallyetiéd, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal controls over financial repogt
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
tem 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be involved in variousiicls and legal actions arising in the ordinary sewf business. In the opinion
management, the ultimate disposition of these msattédl not have a material adverse effect on amsolidated financial statements.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes to the riskrfadiscussed in Part |, "Item 1A. Risk Factorstar most recent our Annual
Report on Form 10-K or subsequent Quarterly RemortBorm 10-Q. If any of the risks and uncertasiidentified in our Special Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements containedimreport together with those previously disclogedur Annual Report on Form 10-K
or subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q methioat are presently unforeseen materialize uitdoesult in significant adverse effects
on our financial condition, results of operatiomsl &ash flows. See Item 2Management Discussion and Analysis of Financialdit@mn anc
Results of Operations — Special Note Regarding Baivi.ooking Statements.”
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Item 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibits:
The exhibits required by this item are set fortttlma Exhibit Index attached hereto
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit Description
Number
3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Chintievestment Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1he

Company’s Registration Statement on Amendment No.Form S-11 (File No. 333-145525) filed on
September 27, 2007 and incorporated herein byenetey).

3.2 Articles of Amendment of Chimera Investmentgoation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company'sg®rt on
Form &K filed on May 28, 2009 and incorporated hereirréfgrence

3.3 Articles of Amendment of Chimera Investmentiwation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’spe on
Form &K filed on November 5, 2010 and incorporated hebgimeference)

3.4 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Chimera Investi@orporation (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Comyan

Registration Statement on Amendment No. 2 to Forbd $ile No. 333-145525) filed on November 5, 2007
and incorporated herein by referenc

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Chimexestment Corporation (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to @@mpany’s
Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to Forbd §File No. 333-145525) filed on September 207220
and incorporated herein by referenc

31.1 Certification of Matthew Lambiase, Chief Eutice Officer and President of the Registrant, parg to Section
302 of the Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of A. Alexandra Denahan, CHi@iancial Officer of the Registrant, pursuant tet®a 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Matthew Lambiase, Chief Extiee Officer and President of the Registrant, parg to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Seefi6rof the Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of A. Alexandra Denahan, CHigfiancial Officer of the Registrant, pursuant toll8.C. Section

1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBa-Oxley Act of 2002

Exhibit 101.INS XBRL Instance Document

Exhibit 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

Exhibit 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docume

Exhibit 101.DEF XBRL Additional Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbas@@ment Created
Exhibit 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docume

Exhibit 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Docum

* Submitted electronically herewith. Attachediasibit 101 to this report are the following docurteformatted in XBRL (Extensible
Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidatedetants of Financial Condition at June 30, 2011 (lditad) and December 31, 2010
(Derived from the audited consolidated statemeifinaicial condition at December 31, 2010); (ii)rSolidated Statements of Operations
Comprehensive Income (Unaudited) for the quartedssix months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010; @i)sGlidated Statements of
Stockholders' Equity (Unaudited) for the six morgisled June 30, 2011 and 2010; (iv) Consolidatate®ients of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 20XD(\grNotes to Consolidated Financial Statementsa(ldited) for the quarter ended June
30, 2011. Users of this data are advised purgodRtile 406T of Regulation S-T that this interaetdata file is deemed not filed or part of a
registration statement or prospectus for purpofesdations 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1983jeemed not filed for purposes of section
18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,athdrwise is not subject to liability under thesetmons.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedeti@o duly authorized.

CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION

By: /s/ Matthew Lambias
Matthew Lambias:
Chief Executive Officer and Preside
August 4, 201:

By: /s/ A. Alexandra Denahe
A. Alexandra Denaha
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer)
August 4, 201:
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Matthew Lambiase, certify that:
| have reviewed this quarterly reportForm 10-Q of Chimera Investment Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factoit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleadir
with respect to the period covered by this reg

Based on my knowledge, the financial statésjyend other financial information included ifstteport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods
presented in this repol

The registrant’s other certifying officerdanare responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18ayHnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f) for the registrant and hav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and puresdor caused such disclosure controls and proegdo be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiairmédion relating to the registrant, including itmsolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is
being preparec

b. Designed such internal control over finahporting, or caused such internal control owearficial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeragsurance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappsges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discisantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in #gistrant’s internal control over financial repodithat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an atmeport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, the registrant’s internal contrales financial reporting;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officerdahhave disclosed, based on our most recent ei@uaf internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorglahe audit committee of the registrant’s boardicéctors (or persons
performing the equivalent function:

a. All significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internarotsnover financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversdfgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and report
financial information; ani

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalwes management or other employees who have #is#n role in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

Date: August 4, 2011

/s/ Matthew Lambiase

Matthew Lambiase

Chief Executive Officer and President (PrincipakEutive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, A. Alexandra Denahan, certify that:
| have reviewed this quarterly reportForm 10-Q of Chimera Investment Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleadir
with respect to the period covered by this reg

Based on my knowledge, the financial statésjyend other financial information included ifstteport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods
presented in this repol

The registrant’s other certifying officerdanare responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18ayHnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f) for the registrant and hav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and puresdor caused such disclosure controls and proegdo be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiairmédion relating to the registrant, including itmsolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is
being preparec

b. Designed such internal control over finahporting, or caused such internal control owearficial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeragsurance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappsges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discisantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in #gistrant’s internal control over financial repodithat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an atmeport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, the registrant’s internal contrales financial reporting;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officerdahhave disclosed, based on our most recent ei@uaf internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorglahe audit committee of the registrant’s boardicéctors (or persons
performing the equivalent function:

a. All significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairotmover financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; an

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdlwes management or other employees who have dican role in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

Date: August 4, 2011

/sl _A. Alexandra Denahan

A. Alexandra Denahan

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Offige




Exhibit 32.1

CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION
1211 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS
SUITE 2902
NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10036

CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 10 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the quarterly report on FormQ®&f Chimera Investment Corporation (the “Comparfgt)the period ended June
30, 2011 to be filed with Securities and Exchangen@ission on or about the date hereof (the “RepdrtMatthew Lambiase, President, ¢
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify rpuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A@D6R2, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of 1

Company at the dates of, and for the periods covieyethe Report

It is not intended that this statement be deeméxtiiled for purposes of the Securities Exchangeok 1934.

By: /s/ Matthew Lambiase

Matthew Lambias:

Chief Executive Officer and Preside
August 4, 201:




Exhibit 32.2

CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION
1211 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS
SUITE 2902
NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10036

CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 10 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the quarterly report on FormQ®&f Chimera Investment Corporation (the “Comparfgt)the period ended June
30, 2011 to be filed with Securities and Exchangen@ission on or about the date hereof (the “RepartA. Alexandra Denahan, Chief
Financial Officer and Secretary of the Companytifsepursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-ORletyof 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc
2. The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of 1

Company at the dates of, and for the periods coveyethe Report

It is not intended that this statement be deeméxtiiled for purposes of the Securities Exchangeok 1934.

By: /s/ A. Alexandra Denahan

A. Alexandra Denaha
Chief Financial Officel
August 4, 201:




